### **BCOV'S FEYNMAN RULE OF QUINTIC 3-FOLDS**

### HUAI-LIANG CHANG, SHUAI GUO, AND JUN LI

ABSTRACT. We prove the Bershadsky-Cecotti-Ooguri-Vafa's conjecture for all genus Gromov-Witten potentials of the quintic 3-folds, by identifying the Feynman graph sum with the NMSP stable graph sum via an *R*-matrix action. The Yamaguchi-Yau functional equations are direct consequences of the BCOV Feynman sum rule.

### CONTENTS

0.	Introduction	1
1.	The Main Theorems	5
2.	Cohomological field theory and <i>R</i> -matrix action	8
3.	Expressing NMSP-[0, 1] theory via CohFTs	12
4.	From NMSP [0]-theory to the CohFT $\Omega^{\mathbf{A}}$ via $\mathbb{R}^{X}$ -action	20
5.	BCOV's Feynman graph sum via geometric quantization	25
6.	From NMSP Feynman rule to BCOV's Feynman rule	27
7.	Reduction of generators, Yamaguchi-Yau's equations and examples	30
List of Symbols		37
References		38

### 0. INTRODUCTION

The landmark work of Witten [Wit92] and Candelas-Ossa-Green-Parkes [CdOGP91] have initiated a new era of enumerating curves in projective (symplectic) manifolds. The mathematical foundation of this theory, called the Gromov-Witten (GW) theory, was laid by the work of Ruan-Tian [RT95] for semi-positive symplectic manifolds, and by Li-Tian and Behrend-Fantechi [LT98, BF97] for projective manifolds.

Since then, a central problem is to find the explicit formulae for all genus GW generating functions  $F_g$  of the distinguished CY threefold, the quintic threefold Q, among other CY threefolds. For genus zero case,  $F_0$  is determined by the celebrated mirror symmetry conjecture [CdOGP91], which was mathematically proved by Givental [Giv96] and by Lian-Liu-Yau [LLY97]. For higher genus cases, Bershadsky-Cecotti-Ooguri-Vafa (BCOV) conjectured a Feynman rule for any CY threefold based on Super-Strings theories [BCOV94]. This rule gives an algorithm which effectively calculated the GW potential  $F_g$  for all g > 0, via the lower genus GW-potentials and finitely many (yet to be determined) initial conditions. BCOV's Feynman rule is a cornerstone in the GW theory of CY threefolds.

The main result of this paper is (see §0.2 for a more explicit statement): Main Theorem. The BCOV Conjecture for quintics holds for all genus.

0.1. Earlier developments. Using Mirror Symmetry Conjecture, String theorists have computed the genus zero GW-invariants  $F_0$  for many CY threefolds, by effectively evaluating certain variation of Hodge structures of the mirror CY at large complex structure limits, following the lead by Candelas et. al.. As we will be focusing on high genus GW-invariants, we will bypass listing any references along this line of development.

The theory developed in [BCOV94] is fundamental in the study of higher genus GWinvariants of CY threefolds. For a family of CY threefolds M, the authors used path integral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Partially supported by Hong Kong grant GRF 16301515 and 16301717.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Partially supported by NSFC grants 11431001 and 11890661.

 $<sup>^{3}\</sup>mathrm{Partially}$  supported by NSF grant DMS-1564500 and DMS-1601211.

to form a B-model topological partition function  $\mathcal{F}_g^W(q, \bar{q})$  for its mirror CY threefold family W, which is a non-holomorphic extension of the GW potential  $F_g^M(q)$ . They further showed that this B-model topological partition function satisfies the holomorphic anomaly equation. Solving the equations and using mirror symmetry, they deduced their (BCOV) Feynman rule.

As will be demonstrated in the later part of the introduction, the BCOV's Feynman rule provides an effective algorithm to determine recursively all genus GW potentials of a CY threefold M, after the finite many ambiguity can be found at each g.

Huang-Klemm-Quackenbush in [HKQ09] has pushed the work of [BCOV94] further, demonstrating how to effectively find all initial conditions necessary for determining genus  $g \leq 51$  GW generating function  $F_g$  for the quintic threefold Q.

The task of mathematically proving these formulas (algorithms) for  $F_g$  has progressed as well. In [Kon93], Kontsevich showed how to use a hyperplane property of genus zero GWinvariants of Q to relate that of Q with that of  $\mathbb{P}^4$ , and to evaluate them using localization via the  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -action on  $\mathbb{P}^4$ . Based on this, the genus zero formula of Candelas for  $F_0$  was proved independently by Givental [Giv96] and Lian-Liu-Yau [LLY97].

For  $F_1$ , Li-Zinger developed a theory of reduced genus one GW-invariants of the quintics, which made using  $\mathbb{C}^*$  localization to evaluation  $F_1$  possible [LZ09]. Shortly after, by overcoming daunting obstacles, Zinger in [Zi09], using the results proved by Zagier-Zinger [ZZ08], proved the explicit formula of  $F_1$  obtained by BCOV. It is also worth mentioning that Kim and Lho [KL18] gave an independent proof of BCOV's formula for  $F_1$ .

Another line of attacks on  $F_g$  (for the quintic Q) is via using the algebraic relative GWinvariants and the degeneration formula of GW-invariants [Li01, Li02]. (For the symplectic version, see [LR01, IP04].) In [MP06] Maulik-Pandharipande developed an algorithm, which in principle can evaluate all genus GW-invariants of the quintic Q. They also proposed an alternative approach, which was simplified in [Wu18] for genus 2 and 3, after combined with that proposal in [Gat03]. In [FL17] via applying localization to a degeneration of  $\mathbb{P}^4$  to Q, Fan-Lee obtained a recursive algorithm for  $F_g$ , depending on some initial conditions. In [GJR17], Guo-Janda-Ruan have proved that a localization formula via compactifying the moduli of stable maps with p-fields does give the  $F_2$  of the quintic conjectured in [BCOV94].

0.2. BCOV's Feynman rule. Let  $N_{g,d}$  be the genus g degree d GW-invariants of quintics Q. The genus g GW generating function (potential)  $F_g$  of the Q takes the form:

$$F_g(q) := \frac{5}{6} \delta_{g,0} \log q^3 - \frac{25}{12} \delta_{g,1} \log q + \sum_{d \ge 0} N_{g,d} \cdot q^d \tag{0.1}$$

Here the log term comes from the degree zero "unstable" contributions.

The genus zero  $F_0$  can be computed by the celebrated genus zero mirror symmetry: Let

$$I(q,z) := z \sum_{d=0}^{\infty} q^d \frac{\prod_{m=1}^{5d} (5H+mz)}{\prod_{m=1}^{d} (H+mz)^5} = \sum_{i=0}^{3} I_i(q) H^i z^{1-i};$$

be the *I*-function of the quintic threefold and let  $J_i(q) := I_i(q)/I_0(q)$  for  $i = 0, \dots, 3$ . Then

**Theorem 0.1** (Mirror Theorem [Giv96, LLY97]). The following formula for  $F_0$  holds

$$F_0(\mathbf{Q}) = \frac{5}{6} \left( \log \mathbf{Q}^3 - J_1(q)^3 \right) + \frac{5}{2} \left( J_1(q) J_2(q) - J_3(q) \right), \quad \text{with } \mathbf{Q} = q \exp J_1(q).$$

We now state BCOV's conjecture, which extends the mirror symmetry to higher genus. Let the three "propatators" introduced in [BCOV94] be  $T^{\varphi\varphi}, T^{\varphi}$  and  $T \in \mathbb{Q}[\![q]\!]$  (which are essentially the genus zero invariants and explicitly defined in (1.5), see also Remark 0.3). Let

$$Y = (1 - 5^5 q)^{-1}$$
 and  $I_{11} = 1 + q \frac{d}{dq} J_1.$  (0.2)

For 2g - 2 + m > 0, we introduce the "normalized" GW potential following [YY04]

$$P_{g,m} := \frac{(5Y)^{g-1} (I_{11})^m}{(I_0)^{2g-2}} \left( \mathbf{Q} \frac{d}{d\mathbf{Q}} \right)^m F_g \Big|_{\mathbf{Q}=q \exp J_1} \in \mathbb{Q}[\![q]\!].$$
(0.3)

We denote the state space by  $H_{\mathbf{B}} := \operatorname{span}\{\psi, \varphi\}$ , which is a linear span of the formal variables  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$ . Let  $G_g$  be the set of genus g stable (dual) graphs. For each  $\Gamma \in G_g$ , we define a contribution  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{BCOV}}$  via the following construction:

(i) at each edge, we place a bi-vector in  $\mathbb{Q}\llbracket q \rrbracket \otimes H_{\mathbf{B}}^{\otimes 2}$ :

$$T^{\varphi\varphi}\varphi\otimes\varphi+T^{\varphi}(\varphi\otimes\psi+\psi\otimes\varphi)+T\,\psi\otimes\psi;$$

(ii) at each vertex, we place a multi-linear map  $H_{\mathbf{B}}^{\otimes (m+n)} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}[\![q]\!]$ :

$$\varphi^{\otimes m} \otimes \psi^{\otimes n} \longmapsto P_{g,m,n} := \begin{cases} (2g+m+n-3)_n \cdot P_{g,m} & \text{if } 2g-2+m>0\\ (n-1)! \left(\frac{\chi}{24}-1\right) & \text{if } (g,m) = (1,0) \end{cases}$$
(0.4)

where  $\chi = -200$  and  $(a)_k := a(a-1)\cdots(a-k+1);$ 

(iii.) we apply the map (ii) at each vertex to the placements (i) at the edges incident to that vertex; we define  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{B}}$  to be the product over all vertices and edges.

Later, we will simply call (iii) the composition rule. The BCOV Conjecture is

**Theorem 0.2** (BCOV's Feynman rule). For g > 1, the Feynman graph sum

$$f_g^{\text{BCOV}} := \sum_{\Gamma \in G_g} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\text{BCOV}}, \qquad (0.5)$$

which a priori is a power series in the Novikov variable q, is a polynomial in  $X := \frac{-5^{\circ}q}{1-5^{5}q}$  of degree at most 3g - 3.

This polynomial is called the ambiguity in the physics literature. Once it is known, the  $F_g$  is determined entirely by the lower genus  $F_{h< g}$ . In Section 5, we will represent it via the quantization of a symplectic transformation on the "small" phase space  $H_{\mathbf{B}}$ .

**Remark 0.3.** In [BCOV94], there are also freedoms in choosing the propagators, which were called "gauge". They conjectured that, the Feynman rule will hold with a suitable choice of gauge. In §1.1, we give the most general freedoms for the gauges (1.4) and their explicit roles in propagators (1.3). For this reason we regard Theorem 1 (given in §1.1) as the most general form of BCOV's conjectures, with insertions, and with gauges (1.4).

0.3. The algorithm. The BCOV's Feynman rule provides a recursive algorithm for determining  $F_g$ , up to finite ambiguity. The set  $G_g$  contains a distinguished "leading" graph  $\Gamma_g$ which has only a single genus g vertex with contribution  $P_g$ . Others  $\Gamma \in G_g \setminus \{\Gamma_g\}$  contribute to products of  $F_{g' < g}$  and propagators  $\{T^{\varphi \varphi}, T^{\varphi}, T\}$ , which are explicitly computable assuming all  $F_{g' < g}$  are known. Then (0.5) implies that

$$P_g = -\sum_{\Gamma \in G_g \setminus \{\Gamma_g\}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\operatorname{BCOV}} + f_g^{\operatorname{BCOV}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \deg_X f_g^{\operatorname{BCOV}} \le 3g - 3.$$

This way,  $F_g$  is determined explicitly once we have found  $f_g^{\text{BCOV}}$ , which has 3g - 3 unknown coefficients, as the constant term is given by the (known) degree zero GW-invariants.

To illustrate this, we apply the algorithm to find the genus two potential  $F_2$  (A more detailed computation can be found in Appendix B.2). There are 6 stable graphs in  $G_2 \setminus \{\Gamma_2\}$ :

$$\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{\bullet}{\underset{g=1}{\overset{g$$

The BCOV's Feynman rule for g = 2 gives us

$$-P_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left( T^{\varphi\varphi} P_{1,1}^2 + 2T^{\varphi} P_{1,0,1} P_{1,1} + TP_{1,0,1}^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( T^{\varphi\varphi} P_{1,2} + T^{\varphi} P_{1,1} + TP_{1,0,2} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \left( (T^{\varphi\varphi})^2 P_{1,1} + T^{\varphi\varphi} T^{\varphi} P_{1,0,1} \right) + \frac{1}{8} \left( (T^{\varphi\varphi})^2 P_{0,4} + 4T^{\varphi} \right) + \frac{1}{8} \left( T^{\varphi\varphi} \right)^3 + \frac{1}{12} \left( T^{\varphi\varphi} \right)^3 + f_2^{\text{BCOV}}.$$

As  $N_{2,1}$ ,  $N_{2,2}$  and  $N_{2,3}$  can be calculated classically (see Appendix A), by using the definition of  $P_{1,0,n}$  in (0.4) and the genus one mirror formula [Zi09, KL18, CGLZ18]<sup>1</sup>

$$P_{1,1} = -\frac{28}{3} \cdot q \frac{d}{dq} (\log I_0) - \frac{1}{2} T^{\varphi\varphi} - \frac{1}{12} X - \frac{107}{60}$$

we prove the genus two mirror formula conjectured in [BCOV94]:

**Theorem 0.4.** Let  $B := q \frac{d}{dq} (\log I_0)$ . The genus two GW potential  $F_2$  of quintics is

$$F_{2} = \frac{-I_{0}^{2}}{5(1-X)} \left[ \frac{350\,T}{9} + \left( \frac{25\,X+535}{36} + \frac{700\,B}{9} + \frac{25\,T^{\varphi\varphi}}{6} \right) T^{\varphi} + \frac{5}{24} (T^{\varphi\varphi})^{3} + \frac{25\,B+X+4}{6} (T^{\varphi\varphi})^{2} + \left( \frac{65\,X^{2}+46\,X+2129}{1440} + \frac{25\,X+535}{36}\,B + \frac{350}{9}\,B^{2} \right) T^{\varphi\varphi} + \left( \frac{X^{3}}{240} - \frac{113\,X^{2}}{7200} - \frac{487\,X}{300} + \frac{11771}{7200} \right) \right].$$

0.4. The strategy of the proof. Our proof of BCOV's Feynman rules is via applying the NMSP theory, which was introduced in [NMSP1]. In its sequel [NMSP2], the property of the NMSP theory was further studied, and the conjecture on the Yamaguchi-Yau ring was proved. In this paper, we will continue to use the results proved in [NMSP1, NMSP2].

We begin our paper with stating the generalized BCOV's Feynman rule (Theorem 1). We then introduce a parallel Feynman rule, derived from the NMSP theory, which we call the NMSP Feynman rule (Theorem 2). We then state our Theorem 3, which says that the generalized BCOV's Feynman rule is equivalent to the NMSP Feynman rule.

In the first half of the paper, we will build the mentioned NMSP Feynman rule and prove Theorem 2. To build the NMSP Feynman rule, we use the NMSP theory and its  $\mathbb{C}^*$  localization. As is shown in [NMSP1], the organization of the  $\mathbb{C}^*$  localization of the NMSP theory is governed by a class of graphs, whose vertices are categorized into level 0, 1 and  $\infty$ ; and among these three vertices, level 0 vertices are *GW-invariants of the quintic Q*. The key is that the edges connecting level 0 vertices contribute (in the NMSP theory) exactly the BCOV propagators. This leads us to introduce the "NMSP-[0] theory", given by summing the contributions from graphs in the NMSP theory whose vertices are of level 0.

In [NMSP2], we have identified the NMSP-[0, 1] theory (constructed in [NMSP2]) with the R matrix action on the CohFT of the union of the quintic Q with N points. We have proved the polynomiality of the NMSP-[0, 1] theory there. Based on these results, we prove the polynomiality of "NMSP-[0] theory" in Proposition 3.22 via Lemma 3.21 (proved in §4.3). We also identify (via the factorization (4.1)) the NMSP Feynman rule with the polynomiality of "NMSP-[0] theory", with the same controlled degree bound 3g - 3. So the NMSP Feynman rule is proved simultaneously.

In the second half of the paper, we write the generalized BCOV's Feynman rule in the form of the operator quantization of the symplectic transformation  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$  on the *B*-model state space  $H_{\mathbf{B}}$ . Here the  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$ -matrix is exactly the restriction of the  $R^{\mathbf{A}}$ -matrix that appears in the NMSP Feynman rule(§5.1). We then introduce the "modified" Feynman rule via the factorization of the quantization action(§5.2). Compared with the NMSP's modified rule (§6.2), we prove that the generalized BCOV's Feynman rule is equivalent to the NMSP Feynman rule, hence proving Theorem 3. Theorem 2 and 3 imply Theorem 1 directly, and provide a mathematical proof of the BCOV's Feynman rule.

As a further remark (in §7), we will show that Yamaguchi-Yau's functional equations (7.4) and (7.5) for quintic Calabi-Yau threefold <sup>2</sup>, can be derived from the operator formalism of the BCOV Feynman sum rule (Theorem 7.3). Indeed, J. Zhou and the authors of this paper will give a geometric proof that for a general Calabi-Yau threefold its BCOV Feynman rule implies Yamaguchi-Yau functional equations (7.4) and (7.5) (cf. [CGLZ]). For the quintic Calabi-Yau threefold, we include here a direct proof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also Example B.3 for a short proof of the genus 1 mirror formula via BCOV's rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> They are also called Holomorphic Anomaly Equations in the literature, c.f. [LhP18, GJR18].

The paper is organized as follows. In §1, we make precise the statements of Theorem 1, 2 and 3. In §2, we recall the notion of CohFTs and R matrix actions. In §3 and §4, we prove the NMSP Feynman rule, the Theorem 2. In §5 and §6, we prove the equivalence of two Feynman rules, which is Theorem 3. In §7, we verify the Yamaguchi-Yau equations, and illustrate how to apply our main theorems to find lower genus  $F_{q\leq3}$ .

We believe that this approach should provide Feynman rules for complete intersection CY threefolds in products of weighted projective spaces. This is our work in progress.

### 1. The Main Theorems

In this section we give the statement of three theorems, respectively (i) generalized BCOV's Feynman rule, (ii) the NMSP Feynman rule, and (iii) their equivalence. We will prove (i) by showing (ii) and (iii), in next sections.

Following [YY04], let  $D := q \frac{d}{dq}$  and we introduce the following generators <sup>3</sup>

$$A_p := \frac{D^p I_{11}(q)}{I_{11}(q)}, \quad B_p := \frac{D^p I_0(q)}{I_0(q)}, \quad X := \frac{-5^5 q}{1 - 5^5 q}.$$
 (1.1)

It is proved in [YY04] that the ring of five generators

 $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{Q}[A_1, B_1, B_2, B_3, X].$ 

is closed under the differential operator D, and contains all the  $A_{k>4}$  and  $B_{k>2}$ . Indeed, <sup>4</sup>

$$A_2 = 2B^2 - 2AB - 4B_2 - X \cdot \left(A + 2B + \frac{2}{5}\right), \quad B_4 = -X \cdot \left(2B_3 + \frac{7}{5}B_2 + \frac{2}{5}B + \frac{24}{625}\right), \quad (1.2)$$

where we always denote  $A = A_1$  and know that  $B = B_1$ .

In [NMSP2], the finite generation property raised in [YY04] is proved. We state it now.

**Theorem** (Polynomial structure). For 2g - 2 + m > 0,  $P_{q,m}$  lies in the ring  $\mathcal{R}$ .

1.1. BCOV's Feynman rule with insertions in general gauge. We now introduce a Feynman rule generalizing that in  $[BCOV94]^5$ . First we introduce the propagators

$$E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} := B_1 + c_{1a}, \quad E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\mathcal{G}} := A + 2 B_1 + c_{1b}, \quad E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} := -B_2 - c_{1b} B_1 - c_2,$$
$$E_{\psi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} := -B_3 + (B - X) \cdot B_2 - \frac{2}{5} B_1 X + c_{1b} B_1^2 - 2c_2 B_1 + c_3, \quad (1.3)$$

which depend on the "gauge"  $\mathcal{G} := (c_{1a}, c_{1b}, c_2, c_3)$ , where

$$c_{1a}, c_{1b} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_1, \quad c_2 \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_2, \text{ and } c_3 \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_3.$$
 (1.4)

Here we denote by  $\mathbb{Q}[X]_d$  the set of polynomials of degree  $\leq d$ . In the papers [BCOV94, YY04], the propagators were chosen with the following special "gauge"

$$(T^{\varphi\varphi}, T^{\varphi}, T) := (E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\varphi\varphi}, E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\psi\varphi}, E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\psi\psi})|_{(c_{1b}, c_2, c_3) = (\frac{3}{5}, -\frac{2}{25}, -\frac{4}{125})}.$$
(1.5)

Let  $G_{g,n}$  be the set of stable graphs of genus g and n legs. Let  $H_{\mathbf{B}} := \operatorname{span}\{\varphi, \psi\}$  be the *B*-model state space. We define the **B**-master potential via the graph sum formula

$$f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}} = \langle \varphi^{\otimes m}, \psi^{\otimes n} \rangle_{g,m+n}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}} := \sum_{\Gamma \in G_{g,m+n}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}}(\varphi^{\otimes m}, \psi^{\otimes n}).$$
(1.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Recall  $I_{11}$  was defined in (0.2). Here our choice of generators are slightly different from that in [YY04] and [HKQ09], which comes out naturally from our approach through A-model theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Their proof relies on a "non-holomorphic completion" of the generators. For an algebraic proof of the first equation see [ZZ08, Lemma 3]. The second equation follows directly from the Picard-Fuch equation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Appendix B.1 for a statement of this Feynman rule in the original language, and the relations with our version. See also §5 for the Feynman grasph sum as a geometric quantization.

Here for each  $\Gamma \in G_{g,n}$ , the contribution  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}}$  is defined via taking the product through all vertices by the composition rule by the following placements:

• at each of the first m or last n legs, we place a vector

$$\varphi - E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} \cdot \psi$$
 or  $\psi$  respectively;

• at each edge, we place a bi-vector

$$E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\mathcal{G}}\varphi\otimes\varphi+E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}}\left(\varphi\otimes\psi+\psi\otimes\varphi\right)+E_{\psi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}}\psi\otimes\psi;$$

• at each vertex, we place a multi-linear map  $:H_{\mathbf{B}}^{\otimes (m+n)} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}[\![q]\!]:$ 

$$\varphi^{\otimes m} \otimes \psi^{\otimes n} \mapsto \left\langle \varphi^{\otimes m}, \psi^{\otimes n} \right\rangle_{g,m+n}^{Q,\mathbf{B}} := P_{g,m,n},$$

where we recall  $P_{g,m,n}$  is defined in (0.4).

**Theorem 1** (Extended BCOV's Feynman rule with insertions in general gauge). For any gauge satisfying (1.4), we have the following polynomial structure statement

$$f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+m}.$$

By taking g > 1, m = n = 0 and picking the special gauge (1.5) in Theorem 1, one recovers Theorem 0.2 in the introduction.

**Convention 1.1.** In this paper  $\psi$  is the psi class of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$ , namely, the ancestor class.

**Remark 1.2.** After identification  $\varphi = I_0 I_{11} H$ , the correlation function  $P_{g,m,n}$  matches the normalized GW correlator of quintic CY threefolds. Namely let Y := 1 - X, then

$$P_{g,m,n} = \frac{(5Y)^{g-1}}{I_0^{2g-2+m}} \langle \varphi^{\otimes m}, \psi^{\otimes n} \rangle_{g,m+n}^Q$$

except for the "exceptional" cases when (g, m) = (1, 0). Here

$$\left\langle \tau_1 \psi_1^{k_1}, \cdots, \tau_n \psi_1^{k_n} \right\rangle_{g,n}^Q := \sum_d \mathbf{Q}^d \int_{[\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}(Q,d)]^{\mathrm{vir}}} \mathbf{ev}_1^*(\tau_1) \psi_1^{k_1} \cup \cdots \cup \mathbf{ev}_n^*(\tau_n) \psi_n^{k_n}.$$

For the exceptional cases, the BCOV's correlators

$$P_{1,0,n} = (n-1)!(\frac{\chi}{24} - 1)$$

differ from the corresponding GW correlators  $\langle \psi^{\otimes n} \rangle_{1,n}^Q = (n-1)! \frac{\chi}{24}$  by a "correction term" -(n-1)!. This term is mysterious from the A-model side. In the proof of Theorem 3, we will see how this term comes into play.

1.2. The NMSP Feynman rule. Let  $H_A$  be the A-model state space:

$$H_{\mathbf{A}} := \operatorname{span}\{\varphi_0, \cdots, \varphi_3\}[\psi], \quad \varphi_i := I_0 I_{11} \cdots I_{ii} H^i \quad \text{for } i = 0, \cdots, 3$$

We introduce the propagator matrix with gauge  $\mathcal{G}$  by

$$R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi)^{-1} = \mathbf{I} - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \psi \cdot E_{1\varphi_2}^{\mathcal{G}} & \psi^2 \cdot E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} & \psi^3 \cdot E_{1\psi^2}^{\mathcal{G}} \\ 0 & \psi \cdot E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\mathcal{G}} & \psi^2 \cdot E_{1,\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} \\ 0 & \psi \cdot E_{1\varphi_2}^{\mathcal{G}} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi \cdot E_{1\varphi_2}^{\mathcal{G}} \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{End} H_{\mathbf{A}}.$$
(1.7)

Here besides the BCOV's propagators (1.3), we introduce extra propagators

$$E_{1\varphi_2}^{\mathcal{G}} := E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}}, \quad E_{1,\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} := -E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} \cdot E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\mathcal{G}} - E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}}, \quad E_{1\psi^2}^{\mathcal{G}} := -E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} \cdot E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} - E_{\psi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}}. \tag{1.8}$$

We define the A-model master potential via the following graph sum formula

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} = \langle \varphi_{a_1}\psi^{b_1}, \cdots, \varphi_{a_n}\psi^{b_n}\rangle_{g,n}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} := \sum_{\Gamma \in G_{g,n}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\varphi_{a_l}\psi^{b_l})$$
(1.9)

where for each stable graph  $\Gamma$ , the contribution  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}$  is defined via taking the composition rule along the following placements<sup>6</sup>:

• at each leg l with insertion  $\varphi_{a_l} \psi^{b_l}$ , we place the vector

$$R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi)^{-1}\varphi_{a_l}\psi^{b_l} \in H_{\mathbf{A}}$$

• at each edge, we place the bi-vector<sup>7</sup> in  $H_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes H_{\mathbf{A}}$ 

$$V^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi,\psi') := \frac{1}{\psi+\psi'} \sum_{i} \left( \varphi_i \otimes \varphi_{3-i} - R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi)^{-1} \varphi_i \otimes R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi)^{-1} \varphi_{3-i} \right) ;$$

• at each vertex, we place the map

$$\tau_1(\psi) \otimes \cdots \otimes \tau_n(\psi) \mapsto \frac{(5Y)^{g-1}}{I_0^{2g-2+n}} \langle \tau_1(\psi_1), \cdots, \tau_n(\psi_n) \rangle_{g,n}^Q.$$
(1.10)

In particular, when  $\mathbf{a} = 1^m 0^n$  and  $\mathbf{b} = 0^m 1^n$ , we define

$$f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} = \langle \varphi_1^{\otimes m}, (\varphi_0 \psi)^{\otimes n} \rangle_{g,m+n}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}.$$
(1.11)

Theorem 2 (A-model NMSP Feynman rule). For any

$$c_{1a}, c_{1b} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_2, \text{ and } c_3 \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_3,$$
 (1.12)

we have the following polynomial structure statement

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n-\sum_i b_i}$$

Remark 1.3. Comparing with BCOV's Feynman rule, we see that in the A-model case

- the state space is is of higher dimension; and we have 6 (instead of 3) types of edge contributions (which we call extra propagators);
- there is no "correction term" in the g = 1 vertex (see Remark 1.2 for more details);
- the master potential  $f^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}$  is indeed the generating function of a CohFT  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}.\overline{\Omega}^Q$  (c.f. §2), where  $\overline{\Omega}^Q$  is the normalized CohFT of quintics (c.f. §2.5.3).

**Remark 1.4.** The NMSP Feynman rule essentially says that, in the orbit of the *R*-matrix group action on the quintic CohFT, there exists a "special" subset  $\{\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}:\mathcal{G}\}$  which is invariant under BCOV's "gauge" group, such that their genus g potential functions are simply degree 3g-3 polynomials in X.

1.3. BCOV's Feynman rule versus NMSP Feynman rule. We now state our final result. Theorem 1 is a direct consequence of Theorem 2 and this result.

**Theorem 3.** For  $\star = A$  or B we introduce the master potential function

$$f^{\star,\mathcal{G}}(\hbar, x, y) := \sum_{g,m,n} \hbar^{g-1} f_{g,m,n}^{\star,\mathcal{G}} x^m y^n.$$

Then we have the identity

$$f^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\hbar, x, y) = f^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}}(\hbar, x, y) - \ln(1-y).$$

Namely, the two types of graph sums are related by

$$f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} = f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{G}} + \delta_{g,1}\delta_{m,0}(n-1)!.$$

 $^{7}$  A direct computation shows

$$V^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\psi,\psi') = E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\varphi\varphi}\left(\varphi_{1}\otimes\varphi_{1}\right) + E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\varphi\psi}\left(\varphi_{1}\otimes\varphi_{0}\psi'+\varphi_{0}\psi\otimes\varphi_{1}\right) + E^{\mathcal{G}}_{\psi\psi}\left(\varphi_{0}\psi\otimes\varphi_{0}\psi'\right) \\ + E^{\mathcal{G}}_{1,\varphi\psi}\left(\varphi_{0}\otimes\varphi_{1}\psi'+\varphi_{1}\psi\otimes\varphi_{0}\right) + E^{\mathcal{G}}_{1\psi^{2}}\left(\varphi_{0}\otimes\varphi_{0}(\psi')^{2}+\varphi_{0}\psi^{2}\otimes\varphi_{0}\right) + E^{\mathcal{G}}_{1\varphi^{2}}\left(\varphi_{0}\otimes\varphi_{2}+\varphi_{2}\otimes\varphi_{0}\right).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indeed, the graph sum defined here is the  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}$ -matrix action, see §2.3 for more details.

**Remark 1.5.** Indeed, we will see that the graph sum definition of  $f_{g,m,n}^{\star,\mathcal{G}}$  (for  $\star = \mathbf{A}$  or  $\mathbf{B}$ ) is equivalent to the following quantization of  $R^*$ -matrix action:

$$f^{\star,\mathcal{G}}(h,x,y) := \log\left(\widehat{R}^{\star,\mathcal{G}}P^{\star}(\hbar;x,y)\right)$$

where the generating function  $P^{\star}(\hbar; x, y)$  are defined via

$$P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = P^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y) + \ln(1 - y) := \sum_{g,m,n} \hbar^{g-1} \frac{x^m y^n}{m! n!} \cdot P_{g,m,n}.$$
 (1.13)

See §5 for more details about the quantization of symplectic transformations.

# 2. Cohomological field theory and R-matrix action

In this section, we investigate the CohFTs and the *R*-matrix actions. We will follow closely the treatment developed by Pandharipande-Pixton-Zvionkone in [PPZ15].

We first fix notations. Let  $Q \subset \mathbb{P}^4$  be a smooth quintic CY threefold; let  $(\pi, ev_{n+1}) : \mathcal{C} \to$  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{q,n}(Q,d) \times Q$  be the universal family of the moduli of stable maps to Q, and let

$$\operatorname{pr}_{g,n}^Q : \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}(Q,d) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{pr}_k : \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n+k} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$$

be the obvious the forgetful morphisms.

2.1. Definition of cohomological field theory. We recall the definition of a CohFT introduced by Kontsevich-Manin [KM94].

**Definition 2.1.** A CohFT consists of a triple  $(V, \eta, \mathbf{1})$ , where V is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -linear space<sup>8</sup> for an integral domain  $\mathbb{F}$ ,  $\eta$  is a non-degenerate (super) symmetric bilinear form  $\eta: V \times V \to \mathbb{F}$ ,  $\mathbf{1} \in V$  is called a unit, and  $S_n$ -equivariant maps

$$\Omega_{g,n}: V^{\otimes n} \to H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}) \otimes \mathbb{A}, \quad g \ge 0, \ 2g - 2 + n > 0,$$

where A is an F-algebra, called the coefficient ring, such that, for any basis  $\{e_k\}$  of V and its dual basis  $\{e^k\}^9$ , the maps  $\Omega_{g,n}$  satisfy the following properties (axioms):

(a1) Fundamental Class Axiom:

$$\Omega_{0,3}(\mathbf{1},\tau_1,\tau_2) = \eta(\tau_1,\tau_2),$$
  
$$\Omega_{g,n+1}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}},\mathbf{1}) = (\mathrm{pr}_1)^* \Omega_{g,n}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad \tau_{\mathbf{n}} := (\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n);$$

(a2) Splitting Axiom and Genus reduction axiom

$$s^* \Omega_{g_1 + g_2, n_1 + n_2}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}_1}, \tau_{\mathbf{n}_2}) = \sum_k \Omega_{g_1, n_1 + 1}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}_1}, e^k) \cdot \Omega_{g_2, 1 + n_2}(e_k, \tau_{\mathbf{n}_2}),$$
  
$$r^* \Omega_{g+1, n}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) = \sum_k \Omega_{g, n+2}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}, e^k, e_k).$$

Here s and r are the obvious gluing maps.

**Example 2.2** (CohFT of the GW theory of X). For a projective variety X, and a coefficient field  $\mathbb{F}$ , we introduce the triple and the maps by (with  $\mathrm{pr}^X$  defined as like  $\mathrm{pr}^Q$ )

$$V = H^*(X, \mathbb{F}); \quad (x, y) = \int_X x \cup y; \quad 1 \in H^0(X, \mathbb{F});$$
$$\Omega^X_{g,n}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) := \sum_{d=0}^{\infty} q^d \left( \operatorname{pr}_{g,n}^X \right)_* \left( \prod_{i=1}^n \operatorname{ev}_i^* \tau_i \cap [\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}(X, d)]^{\operatorname{vir}} \right) \in H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}, \mathbb{F})[\![q]\!]$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> By "a space over a domain  $\mathbb{F}$ " we mean a locally free  $\mathbb{F}$  module. <sup>9</sup>  $\{e_k\}$  and  $\{e^k\}$  satisfying  $\eta(e_k, e^\ell) = (-1)^{\deg e_k \deg e^\ell} \eta(e^\ell, e_k) = \delta_{k\ell}$ .

### 2.2. Shift and direct sum of CohFTs.

**Definition 2.3** (The shifted CohFT  $\Omega^{\tau}$  of a given CohFT  $\Omega$ .). For  $\tau \in V \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} \mathbb{A}$ ,

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{\tau}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) := \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{1}{k!} \operatorname{pr}_{k*} \Omega_{g,n+k}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}, \tau^{k}) \in H^{*}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}, \mathbb{A}),$$

with the same triple  $(V, \eta, 1)$  of  $\Omega$ . Here we assume that the infinite sum is well defined.

**Definition 2.4** (The direct sum of CohFTs). Let  $\Omega^a$  and  $\Omega^b$  be two CohFTs with identical coefficient ring  $\mathbb{A}$ . We define their direct sum to be the CohFT with triple  $(V^a \oplus V^b, \eta^a \oplus \eta^b, \mathbf{1}^a \oplus \mathbf{1}^b)$ , and with maps

$$(\Omega^a \oplus \Omega^b)_{g,n}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) = \Omega^a_{g,n}(\tau^a_{\mathbf{n}}) + \Omega^b_{g,n}(\tau^b_{\mathbf{n}}) \in H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}, \mathbb{A}),$$

where  $\tau_i = (\tau_i^a, \tau_i^b) \in V^a \oplus V^b$ . By iterating, we get a direct sum of finite copies of CohFTs. It is easy to check that the direct sum of CohFTs so defined satisfies all the CohFT axioms, and hence is a CohFT.

**Example 2.5.** Let  $\Omega^X$  be as in Example 2.2. For two smooth projective varieties  $X_1$  and  $X_2$ , we have  $\Omega^{X_1 \sqcup X_2} = \Omega^{X_1} \oplus \Omega^{X_2}$ .

2.3. *R*-matrix action on CohFT. The *R*-matrix was first introduced in [Giv01a, Giv01b] to compute higher genus equivariant GW invariants. Its lifting to CohFTs was studied in [Sh09, Te12]. In this section, we will mostly follow [PPZ15]<sup>10</sup>, with a slight generalization.

Let  $\Omega$  be a CohFT with the triple  $(V, \eta, \mathbf{1})$ . We consider another triple  $(V', \eta', \mathbf{1}')$ , and a formal power series

$$R(z) = R_0 + R_1 z + R_2 z^2 + \dots \in \operatorname{End}(V, V') \otimes \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!]$$

which satisfies the "symplectic condition": <sup>11</sup>

$$R^*(-z)R(z) = I \in \text{End}(V).$$
(2.1)

Notice that (2.1) implies that R(z) is injective and  $\dim_{\mathbb{F}} V \leq \dim_{\mathbb{F}} V'$ .

We define the *R*-matrix action following [PPZ15]. Let  $\Gamma \in G_{g,n}$  be a genus g stable graph with n legs. For each vertex v of  $\Gamma$ , we denote its genus by  $g_v$  and its valence by  $n_v$ . For each  $\Gamma$  we associate it the space  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\Gamma} := \prod_{v \in V(\Gamma)} \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_v, n_v}$ , and define the contribution

$$\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}: V^{'\otimes n} \longrightarrow H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\Gamma}, \mathbb{A})$$

by the following construction

(1) at each leg l of  $\Gamma$ , we place a map

$$R^*(-\psi_l): V' \longrightarrow V[\psi_l];$$

(2) at each edge  $e = (v_1, v_2)$  of  $\Gamma$ , we place

$$\frac{\sum_{\beta} e_{\beta} \otimes e^{\beta} - \sum_{\alpha} R^{*}(-\psi_{(e,v_{1})}) e_{\alpha}' \otimes R^{*}(-\psi_{(e,v_{2})}) e^{\prime \alpha}}{\psi_{(e,v_{1})} + \psi_{(e,v_{2})}} \in V[\psi_{(e,v_{1})}] \otimes V[\psi_{(e,v_{2})}];$$

where  $\{e_{\beta}\}$  and  $\{e'_{\alpha}\}$  are bases of V and V', with dual bases  $\{e^{\beta}\}$  and  $\{e'^{\alpha}\}$  respectively; (3) at each vertex v of  $\Gamma$ , we place

$$\Omega_{g_v,n_v}: V^{\otimes n_v} \longrightarrow H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_v,n_v}, \mathbb{A})$$

Let  $\xi_{\Gamma} : \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\Gamma} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$  be the tautological morphism by gluing. We define

$$(R\Omega)_{g,n} = \sum_{\Gamma \in G_{g,n}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut} \Gamma|} \xi_{\Gamma_*} (\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}).$$

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  In their paper, the authors give a careful proof that *R*-matrix actions preserve CohFTs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The symplectic condition is equivalent to :  $\eta(v_1, v_2) = \eta' (R(z)v_1, R(-z)v_2)$ , for  $v_1, v_2 \in V$ . It could not deduce  $\eta(R^*(z)v_1, R^*(-z)v_2) = \eta'(v_1, v_2)$  when dim  $V \neq \dim V'$ .

Let  $\psi_i$  be the ancestor psi classes of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n+k}$ . For the given *R*-matrix, we associate

$$T_R(z) = z\mathbf{1} - zR(-z)^*\mathbf{1}' \in z\mathbb{A}\llbracket z \rrbracket \otimes V;$$

we define its associated translation action by

$$T_R\Omega_{g,n}(-) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{1}{k!} (\mathrm{pr}_k)_* \Omega_{g,n+k}(-, T_R(\psi_{n+1}), \cdots, T_R(\psi_{n+k})),$$
(2.2)

assuming that the infinite sum makes sense in  $H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}) \otimes \mathbb{A}$ . For example, if  $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{F}\llbracket q \rrbracket$  is endowed with q-adic topology and

$$T_R(z) \in z^2 \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!] \otimes V + q \, z \, \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!] \otimes V, \tag{2.3}$$

then (2.2) automatically converges. We call (2.3) the q-adic conditions for  $T_R$ .

**Definition 2.6.** The *R*-matrix action on a CohFT  $\Omega$  is defined by

$$R.\Omega := RT_R\Omega.$$

# 2.4. Properties of CohFTs under *R*-matrix actions. Following [PPZ15], we have

**Theorem 2.7.** Let  $\Omega$  be a CohFT with unit for the triple  $(V, \eta, \mathbf{1})$ . Let  $\mathbb{A} = F[\![q]\!]$  be endowed with q-adic topology. We have the followings.

- (1) Let  $(V', \eta', \mathbf{1}')$  be another triple. Suppose  $R(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V, V')[\![z]\!]$  is symplectic and  $T_R$  satisfies the q-adic condition. Then  $T_R\Omega$  is well-defined and is a CohFT, and  $R.\Omega$  is also a CohFT. Furthermore, if  $R^*(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V', V)[\![z]\!]$  is symplectic (which is equivalent to  $\dim_{\mathbb{F}} V = \dim_{\mathbb{F}} V'$ ),  $R.\Omega$  is a CohFT with unit  $\mathbf{1}' \in V'$ .
- (2) Suppose  $(V'', \eta'', \mathbf{1}'')$  is another vector space with pairing and unit. Suppose

$$R_a(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V, V') \llbracket z \rrbracket$$
 and  $R_b(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V', V'') \llbracket z \rrbracket$ 

are symplectic, with  $T_{R_a}, T_{R_b}$  satisfying the q-adic conditions (2.3). Then as CohFTs on  $(V'', \eta'', \mathbf{1}'')$ 

$$(R_a R_b) \cdot \Omega = R_a \cdot (R_b \cdot \Omega) \cdot$$

*Proof.* All statements can be proved by exactly the same arguments as in [PPZ15, Prop 2.12 and 2.14], except that for the axioms on unit in (1), the identity  $(RT\Omega)_{0,3}(\mathbf{1}, \tau_1, \tau_2) = \eta'(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  is shown in Lemma C.1. We leave other identities to readers.

**Remark 2.8.** We remark that in [PPZ15] the authors used V = V' and  $R_0 = I$ . In the next section we will use R actions in the case  $\dim_{\mathbb{F}} V < \dim_{\mathbb{F}} V'$ . For more relations with [PPZ15], see Example C.2.

2.5. Examples of CohFTs. In this subsection, we list some CohFTs used in this paper.

We consider the following CohFTs that arise in the localization of the NMSP theory. As in [NMSP2], we pick a sufficiently large integer N; let  $G = (\mathbb{C}^*)^N$ , and take  $H^*(BG) = \mathbb{Q}[t_1, \dots, t_N]$  where  $t_{\alpha}$  is the  $\alpha$ -th equivariant generator. In this paper, after equivariant integration we will always specialize  $t_{\alpha}$  to  $-\zeta_N^{\alpha}t$ , where  $\zeta_N = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N}}$  is the primitive N-th root of unity. In this paper we always take  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_N)(t)$  and  $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{F}[q]$ .

2.5.1. Twisted GW theory of a point  $\Omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}}$  and its topological part  $\omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}}$ . The triple is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}} = H^{0}(\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}), \quad (\cdot, \cdot)^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}, \mathrm{tw}}, \quad \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} := 1 \in H^{0}(\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha})$$

where the inner product is given by

$$(x,y)^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}} := 5t_{\alpha}^{-4} \prod_{\beta:\beta \neq \alpha} (t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha})^{-1} xy = \frac{-5}{\mathrm{N}t_{\alpha}^{3} t^{\mathrm{N}}} xy.$$

Let  $\mathbb{E}_{g,n}$  be the Hodge bundle over  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$ ; the maps are

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) = (-1)^{1-g} \frac{e_T(\mathbb{E}_{g,n}^{\vee} \otimes (-t_{\alpha}))^5}{(-t_{\alpha})^5} \frac{5t_{\alpha}}{e_T(\mathbb{E}_{g,n} \otimes 5t_{\alpha})} \prod_{\beta:\beta \neq \alpha} \frac{e_T\left(\mathbb{E}_{g,n}^{\vee} \otimes (t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha})\right)}{(t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha})} \prod_i \tau_i.$$

This gives us the CohFT  $\Omega_{g,n}^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}}$ .

We introduce the CohFT  $\omega^{\text{pt}_{\alpha},\text{tw}}$ , which is the topological part of  $\Omega_{g,n}^{\text{pt}_{\alpha},\text{tw}}$ : the triple is  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{pt}_{\alpha}}$  with the same inner product and unit; the maps are defined by  $\omega_{g,n}^{\text{pt}_{\alpha},\text{tw}}(1^{\otimes n}) = (\frac{-5}{Nt_{\alpha}^{3}t^{N}})^{1-g}$ .

By [Mu83, FP00, Giv01a], we have

Proposition 2.9. The following identity between CohFTs holds

$$\Omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}} = \Delta^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}.\omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}},\tag{2.4}$$

where the R-matrix  $\Delta^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}$  is given by

$$\Delta^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}(z) = \exp\Big(\sum_{k>0} \frac{B_{2k}}{2k(2k-1)} \Big(\frac{5}{(-t_{\alpha})^{2k-1}} + \frac{1}{(5t_{\alpha})^{2k-1}} + \sum_{\beta \neq \alpha} \frac{1}{(t_{\alpha} - t_{\beta})^{2k-1}}\Big) z^{2k-1}\Big).$$

**Remark 2.10.** We see that the topological CohFT  $\omega^{\text{pt}_{\alpha},\text{tw}}$  has the same vector space as that of the CohFT  $\Omega^{\text{pt}_{\alpha}}$ , but with different inner product. In fact if we define

$$\tilde{\Delta}^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}(z) := \sqrt{5/\mathrm{N}} \cdot t_{\alpha}^{-(3+\mathrm{N})/2} \,\Delta^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}(z),$$

then we have the CohFT identity<sup>12</sup>

$$\Omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha},\mathrm{tw}} = \tilde{\Delta}^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}} . \Omega^{\mathrm{pt}_{\alpha}}.$$

**Convention 2.11.** For simplicity, in the following we write Npt as the disjoint union of  $pt_{\alpha}$ ,  $1 \leq \alpha \leq N$ , as in [NMSP2]. Accordingly,  $\Omega^{Npt,tw} = \bigoplus_{\alpha=1}^{N} \Omega^{pt_{\alpha},tw}$ ,  $\omega^{Npt,tw} = \bigoplus_{\alpha=1}^{N} \omega^{pt_{\alpha},tw}$ , etc.

2.5.2. CohFT  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$  of the twisted GW theory of quintic threefold and the shifted CohFT  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw},\tau}$ . Let Q be a smooth quintic CY threefold. The CohFT  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$  consists of the triple

$$\mathfrak{H}_{Q} = H^{*}(Q), \quad (x, y)^{Q, \text{tw}} = \int_{Q} \frac{xy}{\prod_{\alpha=1}^{N} (H + t_{\alpha})} = \int_{Q} \frac{xy}{-t^{N}}, \quad \mathbf{1}_{Q} := 1 \in H^{*}(Q),$$

and the map

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\mathrm{tw}}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) = \sum_{d=0}^{\infty} q^d \cdot \mathrm{pr}_{g,n*}^Q \Big( \frac{\mathrm{ev}_1^* \tau_1 \cdots \mathrm{ev}_n^* \tau_n}{\prod_{\alpha=1}^{N} e \big( R \pi_* \mathrm{ev}_{n+1}^* \mathcal{O}(1) \cdot t_\alpha \big)} \cap [\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}(Q,d)]^{\mathrm{vir}} \Big).$$

**Remark 2.12.** By dimension reason one calculates

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\mathrm{tw}}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}}) = (-t^{\mathrm{N}})^{(g-1)} \Omega_{g,n}^{Q}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}})|_{q \mapsto q' := -q/t^{\mathrm{N}}}.$$

By the fundamental class axiom, if  $\tau$  is a scalar multiple of the unit,  $\Omega^{\tau} = \Omega$ , for any CohFT  $\Omega$ . In particular  $\Omega^{\text{pt}}$  and  $\Omega^{\text{pt,tw}}$  are not affected by any shift. Also, for  $\tau \in \mathcal{H}_Q \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} \mathbb{A}$ , we denote by  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw},\tau}$  the  $\tau$ -shifted CohFT of  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$ .

**Convention 2.13.** By abuse of notations, we denote  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}} = \Omega^{Q,\text{tw},\tau_Q(q')}$  from now on. Here  $\tau_Q(q) := J_1(q)H = I_1(q)/I_0(q)H$  is the mirror map.

2.5.3. CohFT  $\overline{\Omega}^{Q,\tau}$  of "normalized" shifted GW theory of the quintic threefold. We consider the following "normalized" CohFT

$$\bar{\Omega}_{g,n}^{Q,\tau_Q}(-) := (5Y)^{g-1} \,\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\tau_Q}(-), \qquad (v_1, v_2)^{Q,\bar{}} = (5Y)^{-1} (v_1, v_2)^Q.$$

Then the graph sum defined in §1.2 is indeed an  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}$ -action on the normalized quintic CohFT  $\overline{\Omega}^{Q,\tau}$ . In (1.10), the factor  $(5Y)^{g-1}$  is from the above normalization factor, while  $I_0^{-(2g-2+n)}$  is obtained by applying dilaton equations to the tail contributions (c.f. equation (C.2)).

Further, with the change of variable  $q \mapsto q' := -q/t^{N}$  and by adding the normalized factor  $(-5Y/t^{N})^{(1-g)}$ , we can identify these two CohFTs:

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\text{tw}}(-) = \left[ (-5Y/t^{N})^{(1-g)} \cdot \bar{\Omega}_{g,n}^{Q,\tau_{Q}}(-) \right] \Big|_{q \mapsto q' := -q/t^{N}}.$$
(2.5)

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  The *T*-action here is well-defined with suitable topology. We skip the argument as we don't need it.

2.5.4. CohFT  $\Omega^{\aleph}$  and  $\Omega^{\text{loc}}$ . The following CohFT  $\Omega^{\aleph}$  is a fundamental object in this paper:

**Definition 2.14.** For 
$$\aleph := Q \cup \operatorname{Npt}$$
, we define the CohFTs of the local theory to be  
$$\Omega^{\aleph} := \Omega^{Q,\operatorname{tw}} \oplus \omega^{\operatorname{Npt},\operatorname{tw}}, \qquad \Omega^{\operatorname{loc}} := \Omega^{Q,\operatorname{tw}} \oplus \Omega^{\operatorname{Npt},\operatorname{tw}}$$

where the triples are both  $\mathcal{H} := H^*(\aleph)$ , with the pairing and the unit

$$(\cdot,\cdot)^M = (\cdot|_Q,\cdot|_Q)^{Q,\mathrm{tw}} + (\cdot|_{\mathrm{pt}},\cdot|_{\mathrm{pt}})^{\mathrm{pt},\mathrm{tw}}, \qquad \mathbf{1} = \mathbf{1}_Q + \sum_{\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha}.$$

Here  $\cdot|_Q : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_0$  and  $\cdot|_\alpha : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{pt}_\alpha} := H^*(\mathrm{pt}_\alpha)$  are the projections.

**Convention.** Let  $G = (\mathbb{C}^*)^{\mathbb{N}}$  act on  $\mathbb{P}^{4+\mathbb{N}}$  via scaling the last N homogeneous coordinates of  $\mathbb{P}^{4+\mathbb{N}}$ . Let p the equivariant-hyperplane class in  $H^2_G(\mathbb{P}^{4+\mathbb{N}})$ . In this paper, we will view  $p^i$  as their images in  $\mathcal{H}^{\text{ev}} := H^{\text{ev}}(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{A}) \subset \mathcal{H}$ .

Now we recall some basic facts in the setup from [NMSP2, Sect. 1.1]. Considering the natural decomposition  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{\text{ev}} \oplus H^3(Q)$ , we pick a basis  $\{\phi_i := p^i\}_{i=0}^{N+3}$  of  $\mathcal{H}^{\text{ev}}$  with dual basis

$$\{\phi^{0}, \cdots, \phi^{N+3}\} = \left\{\frac{p^{3}}{5}(p^{N}-t^{N}), \frac{p^{2}}{5}(p^{N}-t^{N}), \frac{p}{5}(p^{N}-t^{N}), \frac{1}{5}(p^{N}-t^{N}), \frac{p^{N-1}}{5}, \frac{p^{N-2}}{5}, \cdots, \frac{p^{0}}{5}\right\}.$$

By using the above basis, let  $[N] := \{1, \dots, N\}$  we have

$$\mathbf{1}_{\alpha} = \frac{p^4}{t_{\alpha}^4} \prod_{\beta \neq \alpha} \frac{t_{\beta} + p}{t_{\beta} - t_{\alpha}} \quad \text{for } \alpha \in [\mathbf{N}], \quad \text{and} \quad H^j = \frac{p^j}{t^{\mathbf{N}}} (t^{\mathbf{N}} - p^{\mathbf{N}}) \quad \text{for } j = 0, 1, 2, 3.$$

The Poincare dual of  $\{1, H, H^2, H^3\} \cup \{\mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1,\dots,N}$  is

$$\{\frac{-t^{N}}{5}H^{3}, \frac{-t^{N}}{5}H^{2}, \frac{-t^{N}}{5}H, \frac{-t^{N}}{5}H^{0}\} \cup \{\mathbf{1}^{\alpha} := \frac{Nt_{\alpha}^{3}t^{N}}{(-5)}\mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1,\cdots,N}.$$

Remark 2.15. In [NMSP2] we use the notation

$$[-]_{g,n}^{\bullet}$$
, where  $\bullet = \text{``loc''}, \text{``}Q, \text{tw''} \text{ or ``pt}_{\alpha}, \text{tw''}$ 

to define certain classes. They are closely related to the CohFT notation  $\Omega^{\bullet}$  used here, with a minor change: in  $\Omega_{q,n}^{\bullet}(-)$  descendents are not allowed, while in  $[-]_{q,n}^{\bullet}$  they are.

# 3. Expressing NMSP-[0,1] THEORY VIA COHFTS

The moduli of NMSP fields and their localizations are constructed in [NMSP1]. In this paper we concentrate on the "NMSP-[0,1] theory": For 2g - 2 + n > 0 and  $\tau_i \in \mathcal{H}[\![z]\!]$ , we introduce

$$\left[\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_n\right]_{g,n}^{[0,1]} = \sum_{d \ge 0} (-1)^{d+1-g} q^d \sum_{\Theta \in G_{g,n,d}^{[0,1]}} \left(\operatorname{pr}_{g,n}^W\right)_* \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \operatorname{ev}_i^* \tau_i \cdot \operatorname{Cont}_\Theta\right) \in H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}, \mathbb{A}), \quad (3.1)$$

where  $\operatorname{pr}_{g,n}^W : \mathcal{W}_{g,n,\mathbf{d}} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$  is the projection and  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Theta}$  are contributions from those NMSP localization graphs supported on [0, 1] (see [NMSP2, Sect. 0.3] for details).

**Definition 3.1.** We define  $\Omega_{g,n}^{[0,1]}(\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n) = [\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n]_{g,n}^{[0,1]}$ , for  $\tau_i \in \mathcal{H}$ .

We first quote the results proved in [NMSP2] in terms of the CohFT and R matrix actions. Let  $S^M, S^Q$  and  $S^{\text{pt}_{\alpha}}$  be the S-matrices of the NMSP-[0, 1] theory, quintic and  $\text{pt}_{\alpha}$  respectively,<sup>13</sup> and let  $q' = -\frac{q}{t^N}$ . We define  $R(z) \in \text{End} \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!]$  via the Birkhoff factorization

$$S^{M}(q,z) \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}\{\Delta^{\operatorname{pt}_{\alpha}}(z)\}_{\alpha=1}^{N} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = R(z) \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}\{S^{\operatorname{pt}_{\alpha}}(z)\}_{\alpha=1}^{N} \\ S^{Q}(z) \end{pmatrix} \Big|_{q \mapsto q'}$$
(3.2)

Then the main results in [NMSP2, Theorem 3 and Theorem 4] is the following

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  See [NMSP2, Sect. 1.3] for definitions of these S-matrices.

**Theorem 3.2.** The NMSP-[0,1] theory  $\Omega^{[0,1]}$ , with  $\mathbf{1} \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $(\cdot, \cdot)^M$ , forms a CohFT satisfying

$$\Omega^{[0,1]} = R.\Omega^{\aleph}$$

Furthermore, for 2g - 2 + n > 0, the NMSP-[0,1] (ancestor) correlator

$$\left\langle \phi_{m_1} \psi^{k_1}, \cdots, \phi_{m_n} \psi^{k_n} \right\rangle_{g,n}^{[0,1]} = \int_{[\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}]} \psi_1^{k_1} \cdots \psi_n^{k_n} \cdot \Omega_{g,n}^{[0,1]}(\phi_{m_1}, \cdots, \phi_{m_n})$$

is a q-polynomial of degree  $\leq g - 1 + \frac{3g - 3 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i}{N}$ .

A few remarks on Theorem 3.2 are in order. The whole argument [NMSP2, Sect. 3.5] is a composition of R-matrix actions on CohFTs

$$\Omega^{\aleph} = \Omega^{Q, \text{tw}} \oplus \omega^{\text{Npt, tw}} \xrightarrow{I \oplus (\oplus_{\alpha} \Delta^{\text{pt}_{\alpha}})} \Omega^{\text{loc}} = \Omega^{Q, \text{tw}} \oplus \Omega^{\text{Npt, tw}} \xrightarrow{R^{\text{loc}}} \Omega^{[0,1]}.$$

Here  $R^{\text{loc}}$  is the R matrix for torus localizations (defined in [NMSP2, Sect. 1.4]), and  $\Delta^{\text{pt}_{\alpha}}$  is from Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch(GRR) formula at  $\text{pt}_{\alpha}(\text{c.f.}(2.4), \text{see [Mu83, FP00, Giv01a]})$ .

The q-adic condition for the GRR's R matrix holds since  $\Delta^{\text{pt}_{\alpha}} = 1 + O(z)$ . The q-adic condition (2.3) for  $R^{\text{loc}}$  holds because its tail  $T_{R^{\text{loc}}}$  lies in  $q \mathbb{A} \otimes V$  by [NMSP2, Remark 3.4]. Thus Theorem 2.7 implies  $R.\Omega^{\aleph} = \Omega^{[0,1]}$ , where R is the composition of these two actions

$$R(z) := R^{\mathrm{loc}}(z) \cdot (\mathrm{I} \oplus \Delta(z)^{\mathrm{Npt}}) \in \mathrm{End}(\mathcal{H}) \otimes \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!]$$

It satisfies the defining identity (3.2) by [NMSP2, Remark 3.6].

3.1.  $\Omega^{[0,1]}$ -theory in terms of stable bipartite graphs of  $\Omega^{[0]}$  and  $\Omega^{[1]}$ -theory. In this section we decompose  $\Omega^{[0,1]}$  into two subtheories, by restricting R(z) action on small blocks.

**Definition 3.3.** For  $\tau_i \in \mathcal{H}$   $(i = 1, \dots, n)$  and  $\star = 0$  or 1, we define

$$\Omega^{[\star]} := \begin{cases} R^{[0]} \cdot \Omega^{Q, \text{tw}} & \star = 0\\ R^{[1]} \cdot \omega^{\text{Npt, tw}} & \star = 1 \end{cases}$$

where the  $R^{[\star]}$ -matrices are <sup>14</sup>

$$R^{[0]}(z) = R(z)|_Q := R(z)|_{\mathcal{H}_Q} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_Q, \mathcal{H})[\![z]\!],$$
$$R^{[1]}(z) = R(z)|_{\operatorname{Npt}} := R(z)|_{\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{Npt}}} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{Npt}}, \mathcal{H})[\![z]\!].$$

Notice that here the state spaces (where the  $R^{[\star]}$ -matrix acting on):

$$\mathcal{H}_Q = \operatorname{span}\{\phi^i\}_{i=0}^3 \oplus \mathcal{H}_Q^{\text{odd}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{Npt}} = \operatorname{span}\{\phi_j\}_{j=4}^{\operatorname{N+3}}$$

have dimensions strictly less than that of  $\mathcal{H}$ .

**Remark 3.4.** By the definition, for  $\star = 0$  or 1, we see that

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{[\star]}(\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n)\in H^*(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n})$$

is equal to the summation of those stable graph contributions in

$$(R.\Omega^{\aleph})_{g,n}(\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n)$$

whose vertices are all labeled by  $\star$ .

**Remark 3.5.** In this paper, the *R*-matrices that we have used are all identity on odd classes and send even classes to even classes. Hence we will only describe their action on even classes.

In this paper a stable graph is a graph whose vertices are decorated by genus, such that  $2g_v - 2 + n_v > 0$ , where  $n_v := |E_v| + |L_v|$  is the valence of the vertex v. A stable graph is called bipartite if each vertex is further decorated by (level) 1 or 0, and each edge connects vertices of different levels. Let  $\Xi_{g,n}^{[0,1]}$  be the set of stable bipartite graphs, with total genus g and n many legs. For a stable bipartite graph  $\Lambda$ , we use  $V(\Lambda)$ ,  $E(\Lambda)$  to denote the set of its vertices, edges respectively; use  $V_0(\Lambda)$  to denote its level 0 vertices, etc..

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  It is easy to generalize such definition of subtheories to any *R*-matrix action on direct sum of CohFTs.

**Theorem 3.6.** We have the following stable bipartite graph formula

$$\Omega_{g,n}^{[0,1]}(\tau_1,\cdots,\tau_n) = \sum_{\Lambda\in\Xi_{g,n}^{[0,1]}} (\xi_\Lambda)_* \left(\bigotimes_{v\in V_0(\Lambda)} \Omega_{g_v,n_v}^{[0]}\right) \bigotimes \left(\bigotimes_{\substack{v'\in V_1(\Lambda)\\v\in V_0(\Lambda),\\l\in L_v}} \tau_l, \bigotimes_{\substack{v'\in V_1(\Lambda),\\v'\in L_{v'}}} \tau_{l'}, \bigotimes_{\substack{e=(v,v')\\\in E(\Lambda)}} V^{01}(\psi,\psi')\right)$$
(3.3)

where the edge contribution  $V^{01}(z,w)$  is given by  $^{15}$ 

$$V^{01}(z,w) := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \frac{R^{[1]}(z) - R^{[1]}(-w)}{z+w} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} \otimes R^{[1]}(w) \mathbf{1}^{\alpha}.$$
 (3.4)

*Proof.* Just notice that for the graph sum formula of [0, 1]-CohFT (via the *R*-matrix action on  $\Omega^{\aleph}$ ), the contribution of an edge that connects a  $V_0$  vertex and a  $V_1$  vertex is given by

$$\operatorname{Cont}_{E_{01}} = \sum_{i=0}^{N+3} \frac{-R^{[0]}(-z)^* \phi_i \otimes R^{[1]}(-w)^* \phi^i}{z+w} \\ = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \frac{R^{[0]}(-z)^* \left(R(z) - R(-w)\right) \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{1}^{\alpha}}{z+w} = \left(R^{[0]}(-z)^* \otimes R^{[1]}(-w)^*\right) \cdot V^{01}(z,w),$$

where we have used the symplectic condition,

$$R^{[0]}(-z)^* R^{[1]}(z) = 0, \qquad R^{[1]}(-z)^* R^{[1]}(z) = \mathbf{I} \in \mathrm{End}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{Npt}}).$$

The graph sum formula then follows from the definition of the *R*-matrix action.

**Example 3.7.** The following is an example of a stable bipartite graph of total genus 9 and two insertions  $(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ :



**Convention 3.8.** In the remainder of this and the next section, we use  $K \in \{L, Y, X, I_k, A_i, B_i\}$  to mean the function  $K|_{q \mapsto q'}$  of  $q' := -q/t^N$ . For example,  $L = (1 + 5^5 \frac{q}{t^N})^{\frac{1}{N}}$ .

Convention 3.9. From now on, we assume N is a prime.

3.2. Polynomiality of [1]-theory. Let  $R(z) = \sum_k R_k z^k$  and

$$V(z,w) = \sum_{k,l} V_{kl} z^k w^l := \sum_j \frac{1}{z+w} (\phi_j \otimes \phi^j - R(z)^{-1} \phi_j \otimes R(w)^{-1} \phi^j).$$

We start by a key Lemma proved in [NMSP2, Appendix C]:

**Lemma 3.10** ([NMSP2, Lemma C.1]). Let  $k, l \ge 0$ ,  $a = 0, 1, \dots, N+3$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in [N]$ . We consider the entries

$$(R_k)_a^{\alpha} := L^{\frac{N+3}{2}} \cdot L_{\alpha}^{-a+k}(\mathbf{1}^{\alpha}, R_k^* \phi_a), \quad with \ L_{\alpha} := \zeta_N^{\alpha} \cdot t \cdot L$$

• For the R-matrix, we have that  $(R_k)^{\alpha}_a$  does not depend on  $\alpha$ , and

$$R_k)_a := (R_k)_a^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{k+\lfloor \frac{a}{N} \rfloor}.$$
(3.5)

• For the V-matrix, we have that  $V_{kl}|_{Npt\times Npt}$  is of the following form

$$V_{kl}|_{\mathrm{Npt}\times\mathrm{Npt}} = L^{-3}t^{\mathrm{N}}\sum_{\alpha,\beta}\sum_{s}L_{\alpha}^{s-k}L_{\beta}^{2-s-l}\cdot(V_{kl})^{\alpha\beta;s}\,\mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\otimes\mathbf{1}_{\beta}$$

such that the entries  $(V_{kl})^{\alpha\beta;s}$  are independent of  $\alpha,\beta$  and

$$(V_{kl})^{\alpha\beta;s} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{k+l+1}.$$
(3.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The basis  $\{\mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}$  and  $\{\mathbf{1}^{\alpha}\}$  in (3.4) can be replaced by any basis of  $\mathcal{H}_{Npt}$  and its dual. Also since the 0 and 1 are symmetric here, we can define  $V^{01}$  in terms of  $R^{[1]}$ -matrix as well.

**Definition 3.11.** Let  $\star = [0], [1]$  or [0, 1], we introduce the  $\star$ -potential for  $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \dots, a_n)$ ,  $\mathbf{b} = (b_1, \dots, b_n)$ 

$$f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[\star]} := \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \psi_i^{b_i}\right) \cup \Omega_{g,n}^{[\star]}(\phi_{a_1},\cdots,\phi_{a_n}).$$

Here  $r := \frac{1}{N}(|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{b}| - n)$ , and  $|\mathbf{a}| := \sum a_i$ .

Our goal is to study the [0] theory, using the [1] and the [0,1] theories. We first study the [1] theory by considering additional "special" insertions:

$$f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[1]} := L^{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a'_{i}} \cdot \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n+m}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \psi_{i}^{b_{i}} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \psi_{n+j}^{b'_{j}} \cdot \Omega_{g,n+m}^{[1]} \left(\phi_{a_{1}}, \cdots, \phi_{a_{n}}, R(\psi_{n+1})\bar{\phi}_{a'_{1}}, \cdots, R(\psi_{n+m})\bar{\phi}_{a'_{l}}\right),$$

where  $\mathbf{a} \in \{0, \cdots, N+3\}^{\times n}$ ,  $\mathbf{a}' \in [N]^{\times m}$ , and  $\{\bar{\phi}_a := L^{-(N+3)/2} \sum_{\alpha} (-t_{\alpha})^a \mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}_{a=1}^N$  is the "normalized" basis<sup>16</sup>. Let  $\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \rfloor := \sum_l \lfloor \frac{a_l}{N} \rfloor$ 

**Proposition 3.12.** Let N > 3g - 3 + n + m be sufficiently large.

(1) If  $r := \frac{1}{N}(|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{a}'| + |\mathbf{b}| + |\mathbf{b}'| - n - m) \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then

$$(Y/t^{\mathcal{N}})^{g-1+r} \cdot f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[1]} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]$$

is a polynomial in X of degree no more than

$$3g-3+n+m-|\mathbf{b}|-|\mathbf{b}'|+\lfloor\frac{\mathbf{a}}{N}\rfloor.$$

(2) Otherwise,  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[1]} = 0.$ 

*Proof.* By definition of  $\Omega^{[1]} := R^{[1]} \omega^{\text{Npt,tw}}$ , the [1]-potential is given by the sum of the stable graph contributions. For each graph  $\Gamma$ , the contribution is given via applying the composition rule to the following placements:

(1) at each leg with insertion  $\phi_a \psi^b$  (one of the first *n* legs), we put

$$R^{*}(-\psi_{l})\phi_{a}\psi_{l}^{b}|_{\mathrm{Npt}} = \sum_{\alpha,k} L^{-\frac{N+3}{2}}L_{\alpha}^{a-k}(R_{k})_{a}^{\alpha}(-1)^{k}\psi_{l}^{k+b}\mathbf{1}_{\alpha};$$

(2) at each special leg with insertion  $R(\psi_{l'})\bar{\phi}_{a'_{l'}}\psi^{b'_{l'}}$  (one of the last *m* legs), we put

$$R(-\psi_{l'})^* R(\psi_{l'}) \bar{\phi}_{a'_{l'}} \psi_{l'}^{b'_{l'}} = \sum_{\alpha} L^{-\frac{N+3}{2}} L^{a'_{l'}} (-t_{\alpha})^{a'_{l'}} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} \psi_{l'}^{b'_{l'}};$$

(3) at each edge, we put a bi-vector

$$V(z,w)|_{\mathrm{Npt}\times\mathrm{Npt}} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \sum_{k,l,s} L^{-3} t^{\mathrm{N}} L_{\alpha}^{1+s-k} L_{\beta}^{1-s-l} (V_{kl})^{\alpha\beta;s+1} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{\beta};$$
(3.7)

(4) at each vertex of genus g with n-legs, we put a map

$$(-) \mapsto \sum_{\alpha} L^{\frac{N+3}{2}(2g_v-2+n)} \frac{1}{s!} (\mathrm{pr}_s)_* \, \omega_{g,n+s}^{\mathrm{pt}_\alpha,\mathrm{tw}} \Big(-, T_\alpha(\psi)^{\otimes s}\Big),$$
  
where  $T_\alpha(z) = L^{\frac{N+3}{2}} \sum_{k \ge 1} (\mathbf{1}^\alpha, R_k^* \mathbf{1}) (-z)^{k+1} \mathbf{1}_\alpha = \sum_{k \ge 1} L_\alpha^{-k} \, (R_k)_0^\alpha \, (-z)^{k+1} \mathbf{1}_\alpha.$ 

Denote  $L_v$  (resp.  $L'_v$ ) the set of ordinary legs (resp. special legs respectively) over v. We estimate the degree of the legs, edges, tails contributions at each vertex of level  $pt_{\alpha}$ . By using Lemma 3.10, we obtain that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Recall the flat basis of  $\mathcal{H}_{Npt}$  is given by  $\{\phi_a := p^a = \sum_{\alpha} (-t_{\alpha})^a \mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}_{a=4}^{N+3}$ , and notice that we can choose  $\{\sum_{\alpha} (-t_{\alpha})^a \mathbf{1}_{\alpha}\}_{a=k+1}^{k+N}$  as a basis of  $\mathcal{H}_{Npt}$  for any k.

• the factor involving  $L_{\alpha}$ , L and Y is

$$(-t_{\alpha})^{(N+3)(g-1)} L^{\frac{N+3}{2}(2g_{v}-2)} \prod_{l \in L_{v}} L^{a_{l}-k_{l}}_{\alpha} \cdot \prod_{l' \in L'_{v}} L^{a_{l'}}_{\alpha} \cdot \prod_{\substack{f=(e,v), \\ e \in E_{v}}} (t \cdot L)^{\frac{N}{2}} L^{1+s_{f}-k_{f}}_{\alpha} \cdot \prod_{t} L^{-k_{t}}_{\alpha}$$
$$= L^{\sum_{l \in L_{v}} (a_{l}+b_{l}-1)+\sum_{l' \in L'_{v}} (a_{l'}+b_{l'}-1)+\sum_{e \in E_{v}} s_{(e,v)}} L^{N(g_{v}-1+\frac{|E_{v}|}{2})} t^{N(g_{v}-1+\frac{|E_{v}|}{2})},$$

where we have used  $n_v = |L_v| + |L'_v| + |E_v|$ , and

$$\sum_{t} k_t + \sum_{f} k_f + \sum_{l} (k_l + b_l) + \sum_{l'} b'_{l'} = 3g_v - 3 + n_v;$$

• the total X-degree of the tail, edge and leg contributions at the vertex is at most

$$\sum_{t} k_{t} + \sum_{f=(e,v), e \in E_{v}} (k_{f} + \frac{1}{2}) + \sum_{l \in L_{v}} (k_{l} + \lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \rfloor)$$

$$= 3g_{v} - 3 + n_{v} + \frac{|E_{v}|}{2} + \sum_{l \in L_{v}} \lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \rfloor - \sum_{l \in L_{v}} b_{l} - \sum_{l' \in L'_{v}} b'_{l'}.$$
(3.8)

For each graph we may forget the hour decoration of each vertex to obtain an "hour-free graph". For each vertex v in an "hour-free" graph, we may sum up its all possible hours  $\alpha = 1, \dots, N$  and extract a multiplicative factor  $L_{\alpha}^{r_v}$  with

$$r_v := \frac{1}{N} \Big( \sum_{l \in L_v} (a_l + b_l - 1) + \sum_{l' \in L'_v} (a_{l'} + b_{l'} - 1) + \sum_{e \in E_v} s_{(e,v)} \Big).$$

By fixing a choice in each summand of (1)-(4) above, such extraction can be done for all vertices at once. Since  $\sum_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}^{k}$  vanishes unless N|k, we see that if some  $r_{v} \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , the decomposition summand of (1) – (4) contributed by an "hour-free graph" vanishes.

At each edge  $e = (v_1, v_2)$ , by the form of (3.7), we see  $s_{(e,v_1)} + s_{(e,v_2)} = 0$ . This gives

$$r := \sum_{v} r_{v} = \frac{1}{N} (|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{a}'| + |\mathbf{b}| + |\mathbf{b}'| - n - m).$$

The argument above proves the second statement.

Now we evaluate the contributions of all the vertices together. After multiplying them over all vertices we have

(1) the factor involving L and Y (using  $L_{\alpha}^{\rm N} = (t L)^{\rm N} = t^{\rm N} \cdot Y^{-1}$ ) becomes

$$(t L)^{N \sum_{v} r_{v}} (t L)^{\sum_{v} N(g_{v} - 1 + |E_{v}|/2)} = (Y/t^{N})^{-(g-1+r)};$$

(2) the total degree of X of contributions of  $\Gamma$  is the sum of (3.8) over all vertices v, which equals

$$3g-3+n+m+\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \rfloor - |\mathbf{b}| - |\mathbf{b}'|.$$

Multiply (1) with (2), and sum over all graphs. The first statement is proved.

3.3. Vanishing properties of [0]-theory. Recall that we have computed

$$R^{[0]}(z)^* \mathbf{1} = \varphi_0 + O(z^{N-3}), \quad \text{and} \quad R^{[0]}(z)^* p = zB \cdot \varphi_0 + \varphi_1 + O(z^{N-2}), \tag{3.9}$$

in [NMSP2, Example 5.2]. Furthermore,  $R^{[0]}(z)^*$  satisfies the following "QDE"<sup>17</sup>:

$$z DR^{[0]}(z)^* = R^{[0]}(z)^* \cdot A^M - A^Q \cdot R^{[0]}(z)^*.$$
(3.10)

We have the following general property for  $R^{[0]}(z)$ :

<sup>17</sup> We recall the explicit formulas for  $A^Q \in \operatorname{End} \mathcal{H}_Q$  and  $A^M \in \operatorname{End} \mathcal{H}$  that were proved in [NMSP2]

$$A^{Q} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & & \\ I_{11} & 0 & & \\ & I_{22} & 0 & \\ & & I_{11} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad (A^{M})^{i}_{j} = \begin{cases} 1 & & \text{if } i = j+1 \\ c_{j+1}q - \delta_{i,4}t^{N} & & \text{if } i = j-N+1 \\ 0 & & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where  $(c_j)_{j=N,\dots,N+4} = (120, 770, 1345, 770, 120)$ . See [NMSP2, Sect. 1.5 and Appendix A] for more details.

Lemma 3.13. We introduce the mod-N degrees by letting

$$\deg \psi = 1, \quad \deg \varphi_j = j = \deg \phi_j$$

Then,  $R^{[0]}$ -matrix preserves the mod-N degree. Furthermore, let  $\overline{j} := j - N\lfloor \frac{j}{N} \rfloor$  and  $\varphi_j := 0$  for j > 3, we have the following key property:

$$R^{[0]}(z)^* \phi_j = c'_j q^{\lfloor \frac{j}{N} \rfloor} \cdot \varphi_{\bar{j}} + O(z^{\bar{j}-3}) \quad \text{for } j = 0, \cdots, N+3,$$
(3.11)

where  $(c'_j)_{j=0,\dots,N+3} = (1,\dots,1,-120,-890,-2235,-3005).$ 

Proof. Recall  $R^{[0]}(z) = S^M(z)S^Q(q', z)$ . Since the local and global S-matrices preserve mod-N degrees, the  $R^{[0]}$ -matrix preserves the mod-N degree as well. Furthermore, because deg  $\varphi_i \leq 3$ , we obtain the  $O(z^{\bar{j}-3})$  in (3.11). The leading term is from (3.10).

The shape of  $R^{[0]}$  gives us control on  $f_{q,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]}$ . The followings are the most direct ones.

Lemma 3.14. If  $r \notin \mathbb{Z}$  then  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]} = 0$ .

Proof. First by Lemma 3.13, each edge(in the  $R^{[0]}$  action on  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$ ) contributes the mod-N degree 2. Secondly, observe that, for quintic CohFT,  $\int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}} \Omega_{g,n}^Q(\otimes_{i=1}^n \phi_{a_i} \psi^{b_i}) = 0$  unless  $\sum_i (a_i + b_i) = n$ . The same statement holds when  $\Omega_{g,n}^Q$  is substituted by  $\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\text{tw}}$ , by Remark 2.12. The lemma follows by summing up the mod-N degrees over vertices and edges in arbitrary graph defining  $\Omega^{[\star]} = R^{[0]} \Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$ .

We will assume r is an integer in the remainder of this paper.

**Lemma 3.15.** Suppose N > 3g - 3 + 3n. Let  $\mathbf{a} := (\bar{a}_1, \dots, \bar{a}_n)$  with

$$\bar{a}_j := a_j - \mathbb{N}\lfloor \frac{a_j}{\mathbb{N}} \rfloor$$
, and  $r^{\sim} := r - \lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{\mathbb{N}} \rfloor = \frac{|\bar{\mathbf{a}}| + |\mathbf{b}| - n}{\mathbb{N}}$ .

We have  $r^{\sim} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ ; and if  $r^{\sim} \neq 0$  then  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]} = 0$ . Namely,

$$|\bar{\mathbf{a}}| + |\mathbf{b}| \neq n \implies f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]} = 0.$$

*Proof.* By N > 3g-3+3n and the stability condition  $3g-3+n \ge 0$ , we have  $-N < -2n \le -n$ . Since  $r^{\sim} = r - \lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \rfloor$  is an integer we must have  $r' = \frac{|\mathbf{\bar{a}}|+|\mathbf{b}|-n}{N} \ge \lfloor \frac{-n}{N} \rfloor = 0$ . This proves the first statement.

Next we prove the vanishing result. By definition, if  $r^{\sim} > 0$ 

$$|\mathbf{\bar{a}}| = r^{\sim} \cdot \mathbf{N} - (|\mathbf{b}| - n) \ge \mathbf{N} - (|\mathbf{b}| - n)$$

By definition of *R*-matrix action, we write  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]}$  as a sum of stable graph contributions. At each vertex v the contribution is of the form

$$\int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_v,n_v}} \Omega^Q_{g_v,n_v} \Big( \bigotimes_{l \in L_v} R^{[0]} (-\psi_l)^* \phi_{a_l} \psi^{b_l} \bigotimes_{f=(e,v),e \in E_v} C_f(\psi_f) \Big)$$

where  $C_f$  is from edge contributions. By using (3.11), we see that, if  $r^{\sim} > 0$ , the total degree of psi-classes of all vertices is at least

$$|\bar{\mathbf{a}}| - 3n + |\mathbf{b}| \ge N - 2n. \tag{3.12}$$

On the other hand, the graph contribution vanishes if for any vertex v,

$$\sum_{l \in L_v} (\bar{a}_l - 3 + b_l) > 3g_v - 3 + n_v.$$

Hence it vanishes if

$$|\bar{\mathbf{a}}| - 3n + |\mathbf{b}| > \sum_{v} (3g_v - 3 + n_v) = 3g - 3 + n - |E|$$

By the condition N > 3g - 3 + 3n and (3.12) we finish the proof.

**Corollary 3.16.** If  $f_{q,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]}$  is nonzero, we have

$$r := \frac{1}{N}(|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{b}| - n) = \left\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \right\rfloor := \sum_{l} \left\lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \right\rfloor = \#\{i : a_{i} \ge N\}.$$

**Corollary 3.17.** If  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]}$  is nonzero, we have

$$g - 1 + r \le 3g - 3 + r + n - |\mathbf{b}|. \tag{3.13}$$

*Proof.* If  $g \ge 1$ , (3.13) follows from the non-vanishing condition  $|\mathbf{b}| \le n$ . If g = 0, we have the non-vanishing condition  $|\mathbf{b}| \le 3g - 3 + n = n - 3$ . Hence  $g - 1 + r = -1 + r < r - 3 + n - |\mathbf{b}|$ . We finish the proof.

3.4. **Polynomiality of** [0]-theory. In the last subsection, we want to give the similar degree estimate for [0]-theory as what we have done for [1]-theory in Proposition 3.12.

We introduce the [0]-potential with special insertions:

$$f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} := \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n+m}} \Omega_{g,n+m}^{[0]} \Big(\bigotimes_{l=1}^{n} \phi_{a_l} \psi_i^{b_l}, \bigotimes_{l'=1}^{m} E_{a_{l'}',b_{l'}'}(\psi_{n+l'})\Big),$$

where the indices  $\mathbf{a} \in \{0, \cdots, N+3\}^{\times n}$ ,  $\mathbf{a}' \in [N]^{\times m}$ ,  $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\times n}$ ,  $\mathbf{b}' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\times m}$  and

$$E_{a',b'}(\psi) := L^{-a'} \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b'}} \frac{1}{\psi + z} \big( R(\psi) - R(-z) \big) \bar{\phi}^{a'}$$
(3.14)

with the dual basis  $\{\bar{\phi}^{a'}:=L^{\frac{(N+3)}{2}}\sum_{\alpha}(-t_{\alpha})^{-a'}\mathbf{1}^{\alpha}\}_{a'=1}^{N}$  of the "normalized" basis  $\{\bar{\phi}_{i}\}_{a=1}^{N}$ . Using  $V^{01}(z,w)=\sum_{a=1}^{N}\frac{R(z)-R(-w)}{z+w}\bar{\phi}^{a}\otimes R(w)\bar{\phi}_{a}$ , one has

$$V^{01}(z,w) = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \sum_{b \ge 0} E_{a,b}(z) w^{b} \otimes L^{a} R(w) \bar{\phi}_{a}.$$
 (3.15)

**Lemma 3.18.** We have  $L^{-a+k}(\phi_a, R_k \bar{\phi}^b) \in \mathbb{Q}(t^N)[X]_{k+\lfloor \frac{a}{N} \rfloor}$  and

$$(\phi_a, R_k \bar{\phi}^b) = 0 \quad if \quad a - k \neq b \mod \mathcal{N}.$$
(3.16)

Proof. It follows from Lemma 3.10 and

$$(\phi_a, R_k \bar{\phi}^b) = \sum_{\alpha} (-t_{\alpha})^{-b} L_{\alpha}^{a-k} (R_k)_a^{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} (\zeta_N^{\alpha} t)^{-b} (\zeta_N^{\alpha} t L)^{a-k} (R_k)_a^{\alpha}.$$

Here we have used  $\sum_{\alpha} (\zeta_{N}^{\alpha})^{m} = 0$  unless N|m because N is a prime.

**Lemma 3.19.** We have  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} = 0$ , unless  $r := \frac{1}{N}(|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{b}| - |\mathbf{a}'| - |\mathbf{b}'| - n + s) \in \mathbb{Z}.$ 

*Proof.* Recall the mod-N degree introduced in Lemma 3.13. Apply (3.16) to  $R_k \bar{\phi}^b = \sum_{s=1}^{N+3} (R_k \bar{\phi}^b, \phi_s) \phi^s$  one sees the mod-N degree of  $R_k \bar{\phi}^b$  is 3 - (k+a). One then calculates the mod-N degree of  $E_{a,b}$  is 2 - a - b. The same reasoning as proof of Lemma 3.14 applies.

When s = 0, we have  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} = f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]}$  and  $r = \frac{1}{N}(|\mathbf{a}| + |\mathbf{b}| - n)$ .

**Definition 3.20.** For any (g, n), we introduce a statement

$$\mathfrak{S}_{g,n} = \quad `` \forall \mathbf{a} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}^{\times n}, \forall \mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{n} \quad (Y/t^{N})^{g-1} \cdot f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n-|\mathbf{b}|} \; ".$$

We also introduce stronger statements

$$\mathfrak{S}'_{g,n} = \ \ "\forall k, s \ge 0 \ \text{with} \ \ell + s = n, \ \forall \mathbf{a} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, \mathbf{N}, \cdots, \mathbf{N} + 3\}^{\times \ell}, \ \mathbf{a}' \in [\mathbf{N}]^{\times s}, \ (\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b})' \in \mathbb{Z}^n_{\ge 0}$$
$$(Y/t^{\mathbf{N}})^{g-1+r+s} \cdot f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+\ell+2s+\lfloor\frac{\mathbf{a}}{\mathbf{N}}\rfloor - |\mathbf{b}| + |\mathbf{b}'|} \ ". \tag{3.17}$$

One of the main result in the next section  $^{18}$ , is the following lemma.

$$\square$$

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$  See §4.3 for the proof

**Lemma 3.21.** Suppose (g,n) satisfies 2g - 2 + n > 0. Let N > 3g + n. If the statement  $\mathfrak{S}_{h,m}$  holds for any (h,m) < (g,n) and  $3h + m \leq 3g + n$ . Then for any (h,m) such that (h,m) < (g,n) and  $3h + m \leq 3g + n$ , the statement  $\mathfrak{S}'_{h,m}$  holds.

By using the above two lemmas, we prove

**Proposition 3.22.** Let N > 3g + n. Then

$$\forall \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} \in [N+3]^{\times n}, \qquad (Y/t^N)^{g-1+r} \cdot f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0]} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n+\lfloor\frac{\mathbf{a}}{N}\rfloor-|\mathbf{b}|}.$$
(3.18)

*Proof.* By definition of  $R^{[0]}$ -matrix action,  $f_{0,(\vec{a},\vec{b})}^{[0]}$  is equal to a graph sum. In case (g,n) = (0,3), there is only one graph with a single vertex and with no psi-classes insertions. In this case  $r = \sum_{l} \lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \rfloor$ . By the property of  $\operatorname{Coef}_{z^{0}} R^{[0]}(z)$  (c.f. (3.9) and (3.11)), one calculates (for any  $a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3}$ )

$$(Y/t^{N})^{0-1+r} \cdot f_{0,(\mathbf{a},0)}^{[0]} = (Y/t^{N})^{r} \cdot (Y/t^{N})^{-1} \cdot I_{0}^{2} I_{11}^{2} I_{22} \cdot C q^{r} = C \cdot X^{r}$$

for a  $C \in \mathbb{Q}$  (which is a product of  $c_j$ 's defined as in 4.15). This is a polynomial in X of degree 0 - 3 + 3 + r. Here we have used  $\langle H, H, H \rangle^Q = I_{22}/I_{11}$  and  $\langle 1, H, H^2 \rangle^Q = 1$  (c.f. [NMSP2, Appendix A]).

We now prove the proposition by induction on (g, n) under the lexicographical order. We will use Proposition 3.12. Fix g, n such that 2g - 2 + n > 0, and from induction hypothesis assume (3.18) holds for any (h, m) < (g, n). Then  $\mathfrak{S}_{h,m}$  holds for any (h, m) < (g, n) and  $3g + m \leq 3g + n$ . By Lemma 3.21,  $\mathfrak{S}'_{h,m}$  holds for any (h, m) < (g, n) and also  $3h + m \leq 3g + n$ .

Now for any  $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} \in [N+3]^{\times n}$  we consider the [0,1]-potential  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0,1]}$ . Suppose  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0,1]}$  vanishes, (3.18) holds. Suppose  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0,1]} \neq 0$ . By Corollary 3.16,  $g-1+r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $N > 3g-3+n \geq \sum_i b_i \geq 0$ , we have  $\frac{3g-3+n-\sum b_i}{N} < 1$ , which implies  $|g-1+\frac{3g-3+\sum_{i=1}^n a_i}{N}| = g-1+r$ .

By Theorem 3.2,  $f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0,1]} \neq 0$  is a polynomial in X of degree  $\deg_X f_{g,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b})}^{[0,1]} \leq g - 1 + r \leq 3g - 3 + n - |\mathbf{b}| + r$  (by (3.13)).

On the other hand we apply (3.3) to this [0, 1]-potential. There is a bipartite graph with only a single genus g level 0 vertex, which we call the leading graph. It suffices to prove that for any non-leading graph  $\Gamma$ , the contribution

$$\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n-|\mathbf{b}|+r}.$$

Indeed, every [0] vertex of any non-leading graph is applicable for the statement  $\mathfrak{S}'_{h,m}$ . Apply (3.15) first, and Proposition 3.12 at  $V_1$ , and (3.17) at  $V_2$ , we obtain

• the degree of the total contribution of  $\Gamma$  in X is given by (with  $n_v := |E_v| + |L_v|$ )

$$\sum_{v \in V_0} \left( 3g_v - 3 + n_v + |E_v| + \sum_{l \in L_v} \left( \lfloor \frac{a_l}{N} \rfloor - b_l \right) + \sum_{e \in E_v} b'_{(e,v)} \right) + \sum_{v \in V_1} \left( 3g_v - 3 + n_v + \sum_{l \in L_v} \left( \lfloor \frac{a_l}{N} \rfloor - b_l \right) - \sum_{e \in E_v} b'_{(e,v)} \right) \le 3g - 3 + n + \lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \rfloor - |\mathbf{b}|;$$

• the total factor involving  $(Y/t^{\rm N})$  is given by

$$(Y/t^{N})^{g-1+r} \cdot \prod_{v \in V_{0}} (Y/t^{N})^{-(g_{v}-1+r_{v}+s)} \prod_{v \in V_{1}} (Y/t^{N})^{-(g_{v}-1+r_{v})} = 1.$$

This finishes the induction.

_

# 4. From NMSP [0]-theory to the CohFT $\Omega^{\mathbf{A}}$ via $\mathbb{R}^{X}$ -action

**Definition 4.1.** We define the CohFT  $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$  via the following *R*-matrix action

$$\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} := R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} \cdot \Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}, \quad \text{with} \quad R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z) := R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}|_{c_{1a}=c_{1b}=c_2=c_3=0}$$

where  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}$  defined in (1.7). For  $a_i = 0, 1, 2, 3$   $(i = 1, \dots, n)$ , We introduce

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} := (-5Y/t^{\mathrm{N}})^{h-1} \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}} \psi_1^{b_1} \cdots \psi_n^{b_n} \cup \Omega_{g,n}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(\varphi_{a_1},\cdots,\varphi_{a_n}).$$

Remark 4.2. By the relation (2.5), we see that this definition matches with the graph sum definition in §1.2 (equation (1.9)), with gauge  $c_{1a} = c_{1b} = c_2 = c_3 = 0$  and with  $q \mapsto q'$ .

In this section we will prove the polynomiality of the  $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$ -theory, via the polynomiality of the [0]-theory. In the end, we will prove Theorem 2.

To extract information from the NMSP-[0] theory, we consider the following matrix factorization which defines  $R^X(z)$ : <sup>19</sup>

$$R^{[0]}(z) = R^X(z) \cdot R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z), \qquad (4.1)$$

where the matrix is under the following basis

$$\{\varphi_i\}_{i=0}^3 \xrightarrow{R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}} \{\varphi_i\}_{i=0}^3 \xrightarrow{R^X} \{\phi_a\}_{a=0}^{\mathbf{N}+3}.$$

(Recall  $\varphi_i := I_0 I_{11} \cdots I_{ii} H^i$  for i = 0, 1, 2, 3.) By definition, we see

$$\Omega^{[0]} = R^X . \Omega^{\mathbf{A}, \vec{0}}$$

4.1. Properties of  $R^X$ . The advantage of the factorization (4.1) is:

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $R^X(z)$  be the matrix defined by (4.1), then

$$R^{X}(z)^{*}\phi_{0} = \varphi_{0} + O(z^{N-3}) \quad \text{and} \quad T_{R^{X}}(z) := z\varphi_{0} - zR^{X}(-z)^{*}\phi_{0} = O(z^{N-2}).$$
(4.2)

Furthermore, the following properties hold for k < N - 3.

- 1. if  $j \neq k + a \mod N$ , then  $(\phi_j, R_k^X \varphi^a) = 0$ ; 2. if j < N, we have  $(\phi_j, R_k^X \varphi^a) \in X \mathbb{Q}[X]_{k-1}$ ; 3. if  $j \ge N$ , we have  $(\phi_j, R_k^X \varphi^a) \in q \mathbb{Q}[X]_k$ ; 4. the  $C^X(z) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}_Q, \mathcal{H})[z]$  defined below satisfies  $R^X(-z)^* C^X(z) = I_Q \in \operatorname{End}\mathcal{H}_Q$ ,

$$C^{X}(z) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -z \cdot \frac{24X}{625} & z^{2} \cdot \frac{24X}{625} & z^{3} \cdot \left(-\frac{576X^{2}}{390625} - \frac{24X}{625}\right) \\ 0 & 1 & -z \cdot \frac{202X}{625} & z^{2} \cdot \left(\frac{4848X^{2}}{390625} + \frac{226X}{625}\right) \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -z \cdot \frac{649X}{625} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \end{pmatrix}$$

where the dots represent zeros.

*Proof.* The formula (4.2) follows from the definition of  $R^{X}(z)$  (4.1), the formula (3.9) and the special form of  $R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^*$  by (1.7).

To prove the properties for  $R^X(z)^*\phi_i$  (i > 0), recall the QDE (3.10) for  $R^{[0]}(z)$  is

$$zDR^{[0]}(z)^* = R^{[0]}(z)^* \cdot A^M - A^Q \cdot R^{[0]}(z)^*.$$

Together with the definition  $R^{[0]}(z)^* = R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^* R^X(z)^*$ , we obtain

$$zD(R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^*R^X(z)^*) = (R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^*R^X(z)^*) \cdot A^M - A^Q \cdot (R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^*R^X(z)^*).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Since  $R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$  is invertable, such matrix  $R^{X}(z)$  exists and can be calculated.

Then we see that  $R^X(z)^*$  satisfies

$$R^{X}(z)^{*} \cdot A^{M} = zD(R^{X}(z)^{*}) + A^{X}(z) \cdot R^{X}(z)^{*}, \qquad (4.3)$$

where a direct computation via Yamaguchi-Yau's relations (1.2) shows that

$$A^{X}(z) := R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(-z) \Big[ (zD + A^{Q}) R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^{*} \Big] = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{24X}{625}z^{4} \\ 1 & 0 & -\frac{2X}{5}z^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -Xz & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -Xz \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.4)

Hence we have an algorithm which recursively compute  $R^X(z)^*\phi_i$  (i > 0) from  $R^X(z)^*\phi_0 = \varphi_0 + O(z^{N-3})$ . Furthermore, since the matrix in the algorithm always increases the mod N degree (see definition in Lemma 3.13) by 1 simultaneously, we see the first three statements hold. The last one is obtained by direct computation of the leading term of  $R^X$  (see Appendix D) and using the vanishing properties of  $R^X$  in the first three statements.

# 4.2. Polynomiality of $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$ -theory.

**Lemma 4.4.** We have  $f_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} = 0$  when  $\sum_i (a_i + b_i) \neq n$ .

*Proof.* Just notice that the  $R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$  action preserve degrees mod N.

**Proposition 4.5.** Assume  $\mathfrak{S}_{h,m}$  holds for any (h,m) < (g,n) and  $3h + m \leq 3g + n$ . Then

$$\forall (h,m) < (g,n), 3h + m \le 3g + n, \forall \mathbf{a} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}^{\times m}, f_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},0} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3h-3+m-\sum_i b_i}.$$
 (4.5)

*Proof.* For  $a_i \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$  we define

$$\tilde{f}_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{[0]} := \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{h,m}} (R^X \cdot \Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}})_{h,m} (C^X(\psi_1)\varphi_{a_1}\psi_1^{b_1},\cdots,C^X(\psi_m)\varphi_{a_m}\psi_m^{b_m}),$$

where recall that  $C^X(z) := \sum_{k=0}^{3} C_k^X z^k$  is defined in §4.1 such that

$$\mathbf{R}^X(-z)^* C^X(z) = \mathbf{I}_Q.$$

Furthermore,  $C_k^X$  satisfies the following property

$$(\phi^j, C_k^X \varphi_a)$$
 vanishes, if  $j > 3$  or  $j \neq k + a$  and  $(\phi^j, C_k^X \varphi_a) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_k$ .

By the above property of  $C_k^X$  and the condition  $\mathfrak{S}_{h,m}$ , we see

$$\tilde{f}_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{[0]} \in (Y/t^{N})^{-(h-1)} \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3h-3+m-\sum_{i}b_{i}}.$$
(4.6)

We note that in the stable graph summation formula of  $\tilde{f}_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{[0]}$  via the  $R^X$ -matrix action on  $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$ , there is this "leading" graph that is a single genus h vertex with m-insertions  $\varphi_{a_1}\psi_1^{b_1}, \cdots, \varphi_{a_m}\psi_1^{b_m}$ . This graph contributes to  $f_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$ . The contribution of any other nonleading graph  $\Gamma$  will be of the form

$$\Big(\bigotimes_{v\in V(\Gamma)} f_{g_v,n_v}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}\Big)\Big(\bigotimes_{i=1}^m \varphi_{a_i}\psi_i^{b_i} \otimes \bigotimes_{e\in E(\Gamma)} V_X(e)\Big),\tag{4.7}$$

where  $f_{g_v,n_v}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} : H_{\mathbf{A}}^{\otimes n_v} \to Q[\![q]\!]$  are the linear maps  $f_{g_v,n_v}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(-) := \langle - \rangle_{g_v,n_v}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$  and  $V_X(e) := \frac{\sum_{i=0}^3 \varphi_i \otimes \varphi^i - \sum_{j=0}^{N+3} R^X(-\psi_{v_1})^* \phi_j \otimes R^X(-\psi_{v_2})^* \phi^j}{\psi_{v_1} + \psi_{v_2}}$ 

is a bivector<sup>20</sup> in  $H_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes H_{\mathbf{A}}$ , for  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  incident to the edge *e*. Furthermore, by Lemma 4.3 and by using  $\varphi^i = (5Y/t^N)^{-1}\varphi_{3-i}$ , we have the following degree estimate:

$$\forall k_1, k_2 \qquad (Y/t^{N}) \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{\psi_{v_1}^{k_1} \psi_{v_2}^{k_2}} V_X(e) \quad \in \quad H_{\mathbf{A}}^{\otimes 2}[X]_{k_1 + k_2 + 1}.$$
(4.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> We have used  $(\varphi_i, \varphi_{3-i}) = 5I_0^2 I_{11}^2 I_{22} = 5Y$ .

We now prove the polynomiality by induction. First we see for (h, m) = (0, 3), the "leading" graph is the only graph. The theorem for this case follows directly.

Next we assume the polynomiality (4.5) for all genus h' with m' insertions with  $(h', m') < d_{1}$ (h,m) and  $3h'+m' \leq 3q+n$ . Recall (4.6) is equal to the graph sum of (4.7). For a "nonleading" graph  $\Gamma$ ,

(1) the factor of (4.7) associated to  $\Gamma$  involving Y is in total

$$\prod_{v} (Y/t^{N})^{-(g_{v}-1)} \prod (Y/t^{N})^{-E} = (Y/t^{N})^{-(h-1)};$$

(2) the X-degree of (4.7) associated to  $\Gamma$  is in total

$$\sum_{v} (3g_v - 3 + n_v - \sum_{e \in E_v} b_{(e,v)} - \sum_{i \in L_v} b_i) + \sum_{e = (v_1, v_2)} (b_{(e,v_1)} + b_{(e,v_2)} + 1)$$
$$= (\sum_{v} 3g_v) - 3|V| + 3|E| + m - \sum_{i} b_i = 3h - 3 + m - \sum_{i} b_i;$$

as desired. This finishes the induction and proves  $f_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3h-3+m-\sum_i b_i}$ .

4.3. Proof of Lemma 3.21. We state the lemma we will use to prove Lemma 3.21.

**Lemma 4.6.** We have the following degree estimate: whenever b'' < N - 3

$$(Y/t^{N})^{-r_{E}} \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b''}} \left( \varphi^{a''}, R^{X}(-z)^{*} E_{a'\!,b'}(z) \right) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{b+b'+1},$$
(4.9)

where  $r_E := \frac{1}{N}(a'+b'+a''+b''-N-2)$  and the LHS of (4.9) vanishes unless  $r_E \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Proof of Lemma 3.21. Assume  $\mathfrak{S}_{h,m}$  holds for all (h,m) < (g,n) and  $3h + m \leq 3g + n$ . By Proposition 4.5

$$f_{h;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3h-3+m-\sum_{i}b_{i}} \quad \forall (h,m) < (g,n), 3h+m \le 3g+n, \ a_{i} = 0, 1, 2, 3.$$

We now look at the statement of  $\mathfrak{S}'_{h,m}$ , under the assumption (h,m) < (g,n) and  $3h + m \leq 3h + m < 3h$ 3g+n. Let  $\mathbf{a} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, \mathbb{N}, \cdots, \mathbb{N}+3\}^{\times \ell}$  and  $m = \ell + s$ . By  $\Omega^{[0]} = \mathbb{R}^X \Omega^{\mathbf{A}, \vec{0}}$ , we obtain

$$f_{h,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} = \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{h,l+s}} (R^X . \Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}})_{h,\ell+s} \Big(\phi_{\mathbf{a}}\psi^{\mathbf{b}}, E_{\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}'}(\psi)\Big).$$
(4.10)

By applying the  $R^X$ -action, for each stable graph  $\Gamma \in G_{h,m}$ , the contribution to (4.10) consists of (using Lemma 4.3)<sup>21</sup>

• at each leg  $l \in L$ , we have an insertion <sup>22</sup>

$$\left(\varphi^{\bar{a}_l-k_l},\psi_l^{b_l+k_l}(-1)^{k_l}(R_{k_l}^X)^*\phi_{a_l}\right)\in\psi_l^{b_l+k_l}(Y/t^{\mathcal{N}})^{-\lfloor\frac{a_l}{\mathcal{N}}\rfloor}\mathbb{Q}[\![X]\!]_{k_l+\lfloor\frac{a_l}{\mathcal{N}}\rfloor};$$

• at each leg  $l' \in L'$ , we have an insertion <sup>23</sup>

$$\psi_{l'}{}^{b''_{l'}}\operatorname{Coef}_{z{}^{b''_{l'}}}\left(\varphi^{a''_{l'}}, R^X(-z)^*E_{a'_{l'},b'_{l'}}(z)\right) \in \psi_{l'}{}^{b''_{l'}}(Y/t^{\mathcal{N}})^{r_{E_{l'}}} \cdot \mathbb{Q}[\![X]\!]_{b''_{l'}+b'_{l'}+1};$$

where  $r_{E_{l'}} = \frac{1}{N}(a'_{l'} + b'_{l'} + a''_{l'} + b''_{l'} - N - 2);$ • at each edge  $e = (v_1, v_2)$ , we have a bivector  $V_X(e)$ .

Here we have used the degree estimate in Lemma 4.6. Further we see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> We will denote the set of first m (last s) legs by L (L' respectively).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Here we have used  $k_l \leq k_l + b_l \leq 3h - 3 + m$ , otherwise the contribution vanishes by dimension reason. Hence we have  $k_l \leq 3g - 3 + n < N - 3$ , and by this condition we see that the only integer  $a \in [0,3]$  making  $a_l - k_l \equiv a \pmod{N}$  is  $a = \bar{a}_l - k_l$  (i.e. we must have  $k_l \leq \bar{a}_l \leq 3$ ). <sup>23</sup> Here we have used  $b_{l'}' \leq 3h - 3 + m < N - 3$  for the same reason as above.

(1) the total factor of  $(Y/t^N)$  in the contribution of graph  $\Gamma$  to (4.10) is given by

$$\prod_{l} \left(\frac{Y}{t^{N}}\right)^{-\lfloor\frac{a_{l}}{N}\rfloor} \prod_{l' \in L'} \left(\frac{Y}{t^{N}}\right)^{r_{E_{l'}}} \prod_{v} \left(\frac{Y}{t^{N}}\right)^{1-h_{v}} \prod_{e} \left(\frac{Y}{t^{N}}\right)^{-1} = \left(\frac{Y}{t^{N}}\right)^{-(r+s+h-1)}$$

where we have used  $\sum_{l'} (a_{l'}' + b_{l'}') + \sum_{l} (\bar{a}_{l} + b_{l}) = \ell + s^{24}$  and

$$\sum_{l' \in L'} r_{E_{l'}} + r + s - \sum_{l} \lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \rfloor = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{l'} (a_{l'}' + b_{l'}' + a_{l'}'' + b_{l'}'' - N - 2) + \frac{1}{N} (|\bar{\mathbf{a}}| + |\mathbf{b}| - |\mathbf{a}'| - |\mathbf{b}'| - \ell + s) + s = 0;$$

(2) the total degree of the contribution of graph  $\Gamma$  to (4.10) in X is no more than

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{v} \left( 3h_{v} - 3 + n_{v} - \sum_{l \in L_{v}} (b_{l} + k_{l}) - \sum_{l' \in L'_{v}} b_{l'}'' - \sum_{e \in E_{v}} k_{(e,v)} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{l \in L_{v}} (k_{l} + \lfloor \frac{a_{l}}{N} \rfloor) + \sum_{l' \in L'_{v}} (b_{l'}'' + b_{l'}' + 1) \right) + \sum_{e} (k_{(e,v_{1})} + k_{(e,v_{2})} + 1) \\ &= 3h - 3 + \ell + 2s + \lfloor \frac{\mathbf{a}}{N} \rfloor - |\mathbf{b}| + |\mathbf{b}'|. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the degree estimate (4.8).

To summarize we obtain

$$Y^{h-1+r+s} \cdot f_{h,(\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}),(\mathbf{a}',\mathbf{b}')}^{[0]} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3h-3+\ell+2s+\lfloor\frac{\mathbf{a}}{N}\rfloor-|\mathbf{b}|+|\mathbf{b}'|}$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 3.21, and therefore (3.18) is correct by Proposition 3.22.  $\Box$ Lemma 4.7. We have  $(\phi^a, \operatorname{Coef}_{z^b} E_{a',b'}(z)) = 0$  unless  $a' + a + b' + b = 2 \mod N$ . *Proof.* By the definition (3.14) of  $E_{a',b'}$ ,

$$\left(\phi_{a}, \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b}} E_{a',b'}(z)\right) = L^{(N+3)/2} \sum_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}^{-a'}(-1)^{b'} \left(\phi_{a}, R_{b'+b+1} \mathbf{1}^{\alpha}\right).$$
(4.11)

By Lemma 3.10 it vanishes unless  $a' = a - (b' + b + 1) \mod N$ .

Proof of Lemma 4.6. The vanishing result follows from Lemma 4.3 and 4.7.

For the degree estimate, we consider three cases:

(1) For  $a = 4, \dots, N-1$ : by Lemma 4.3 for any k' < N-3, (note  $a'' = 0, 1, 2, 3^{22}$ )  $(-1)^{k'}(R_{k'}^X)_a = (\varphi^{a''}, \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{k'}} R^X(-z)^* \phi_a) \neq 0$  only if a = a'' + k'. (4.12)

When it is nonzero, it is a degree k' polynomial in X. This implies that <sup>25</sup>

$$(Y/t^{N})^{-r_{E}} \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b''}}(\varphi^{a''}, R^{X}(-z)^{*}\phi_{a})(\phi^{a}, E_{a',b'}(z)) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{b'+b''+1}.$$
(4.13)

(2) For  $a = 0, \dots, 3$ : by Lemma 4.3 for any k' < N - 3 we still have (4.12). Further, when it is nonzero, it is a degree k' polynomial in X. This implies that <sup>26</sup>

$$(Y/t^{N})^{-r_{E}} \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b''}}(\varphi^{a''}, R^{X}(-z)^{*}\phi_{a})(\phi^{a}, E_{a',b'}(z)) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{b'+b''+2}.$$
(4.14)

(3) For  $a = N, \dots, N+3$ : by Lemma 4.3, for any k' < N-3,

$$(\varphi^{a''}, \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{k'}} R^X(-z)^* \phi_a) \neq 0$$
 only if  $a - N = a'' + k'$ .

When it is nonzero, it is a degree k' polynomial in X multiplied by q. This implies (by argument similar to (2))

$$(Y/t^{N})^{-r_{E}} \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{z^{b''}}(\varphi^{a''}, R^{X}(-z)^{*}\phi_{a})(\phi^{a}, E_{a',b'}(z)) \in q \mathbb{Q}[X]_{b'+b''+1}.$$

<sup>24</sup> This identity follows from Lemma 4.4 and the fact that  $V_X$  has cohomology degree two (by Lemma 4.3, see also for (D.3) the explicit formula).

<sup>25</sup> By using (4.11),  $\phi^a = \phi_{N+3-a}/5$  and the property (3.5) of  $(R_k)_a$ , we have

 $\operatorname{Coef}_{z^b}(\phi^a, E_{a',b'}(z)) = \frac{N}{5} (Y/t^N)^{r_E} (-1)^{b'} (R_{b+b'+1})_{N+3-a} \in (Y/t^N)^{r_E} \mathbb{Q}[X]_{b+b'+1}.$ 

Then each contribution to LHS of (4.13) has degree  $\leq (b + b' + 1) + k = b' + b'' + 1$  (here b'' = b + k').

<sup>26</sup> By applying  $\phi^a = (\phi_{N+3-a} - t^N \phi_{3-a})/5$  in (4.14), the term  $\phi_{N+3-a}$  contributes the same formula as (4.13), except that by (3.5) the X degree bund is increased by  $1 = \lfloor \frac{N+3-a}{N} \rfloor$ . The second term  $t^N \phi_{3-a}$  contributes  $\operatorname{Coef}_{z^b}(t^N \phi_{3-a}, E_{a',b'}(z)) = \sum_{\alpha} (\frac{Y}{t^N})^{r_E} (-1)^{b'} (R_{b+b'+1})_{3-a} \cdot Y$ . With (4.12) we obtain (4.14).

Sum up the process deducing (1),(2),(3). One obtains that, the LHS of (4.9) equals

$$\operatorname{Contri}(1) + \sum_{\substack{j+k=b'+b''+1,\\0\le k\le b'', 0\le a\le 3}} (-1)^{b'+k} \frac{N}{5} \left( (R_k^X)_a(R_j)_{N+3-a} - Y(R_k^X)_a(R_j)_{3-a} + (Y/t^N)(R_k^X)_{N+a}(R_j)_{3-a} \right)$$

where we denote by  $(R_k^X)_i := (\varphi^{a''}, (R_k^X)^* \phi_i)$ , and Contri(1) is a sum of terms of form (4.13) in case (1) (thus lies in  $Q[X]_{b'+b''+1}$ ). By (2) and (3) the rest terms lie in  $\mathbb{Q}[X]_{b'+b''+2}$ . Now we want to prove the top degree term indeed vanishes. The argument is similar to the one in the proof of [NMSP2, Appendix C]. Recall [NMSP2, (C.4)], for  $a = N, \dots, N+3$  we have

$$\operatorname{Coef}_{X^{k+1}}(R_k)_a = \frac{c'_a}{5^5} \operatorname{Coef}_{X^k}(R_k)_{a-N}, \quad (c'_a)_{a=N}^{N+3} = (-120, -890, -2235, -3005).$$
(4.15)

Similar property holds for  $R^X$  by using the explicit formula (D.2) : <sup>27</sup>

for 
$$a = \mathbb{N}, \cdots, \mathbb{N} + 3$$
  $\operatorname{Coef}_{X^k} \left( q^{-1} \cdot (R_k^X)_a \right) = c'_a \cdot \operatorname{Coef}_{X^k} (R_k^X)_{a-\mathbb{N}}.$ 

Then we obtain for a = 0, 1, 2, 3 and for j + k = b' + b'' + 1

$$\operatorname{Coef}_{X^{j+k+1}}\left(-Y\left(R_{k}^{X}\right)_{a}(R_{j})_{3-a}+\left(R_{k}^{X}\right)_{a}(R_{j})_{N+3-a}+Y/t^{N}\left(R_{k}^{X}\right)_{N+a}(R_{j})_{3-a}\right)$$
$$=\left(1+\frac{c_{N+a}'}{5^{5}}+\frac{c_{N+3-a}'}{5^{5}}\right)\cdot\operatorname{Coef}_{X^{b'+b''-1}}\left(\left(R_{k}^{X}\right)_{a}(R_{j})_{3-a}\right)=0.$$

where we have used Y = 1 - X and  $5^5Yq = t^N X$ . Hence the true degree in X is decreased by 1 and then we finish the proof.

4.4. Choice of gauge and finish the proof of Theorem 2. We consider the following symplectic transformation:

$$\mathcal{G}(z)^{-1} = I - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & z \cdot c_{1a} & z^2 \cdot c_2 & z^3 \cdot c'_3 \\ 0 & z \cdot c_{1b} & z^2 \cdot c'_2 \\ & 0 & z \cdot c_{1a} \\ & & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.16)

where  $c'_2 = -c_{1a}c_{1b} - c_2$  and  $c'_3 = -c_{1a}c_2 - c_3$ . Then we are able to recover the family of *R*-matrices  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(z)$  defined in (1.7) via

$$R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(z)^{-1} = R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{G}(z)^{-1}$$
(4.17)

where the family of propagators  $E_{**}^{\mathcal{G}}$  in  $R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(z)$  is related with the propagators  $E_{**}^{\vec{0}} := E_{**}^{\mathcal{G}=\mathbf{0}}$ in  $R^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}(z)$  by the following

$$E_{\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} = E_{\psi}^{\vec{0}} + c_{1a}, \qquad E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\mathcal{G}} = E_{\varphi\varphi}^{\vec{0}} + c_{1b}, \qquad E_{\varphi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} = E_{\varphi\psi}^{\vec{0}} - c_{1b} E_{\psi}^{\vec{0}} - c_{2},$$
$$E_{\psi\psi}^{\mathcal{G}} = E_{\psi\psi}^{\vec{0}} + c_{1b} (E_{\psi}^{\vec{0}})^2 - 2 c_2 E_{\psi} + c_3.$$

Proof of Theorem 2. Recall we have proved (Proposition 4.5)<sup>28</sup>

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n-\sum_i b_i}$$

Via (4.17), we define the CohFT

$$\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} := \mathcal{G}.\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} = R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}.\Omega^{Q,\mathrm{tw}}.$$

Then we see the A-model master potential (1.11) is indeed its generating function<sup>29</sup>

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} = (-5Y/t^{\mathrm{N}})^{g-1} \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{h,n}} \psi_1^{b_1} \cdots \psi_n^{b_n} \cup \Omega_{g,n}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}}(\varphi_{a_1},\cdots,\varphi_{a_n}).$$
(4.18)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Note that k < b'' < N - 3 implies  $k \le 3$ , for the same reason as stated in footnote 22.

 $<sup>^{28}</sup>$  The assumption in the statement of Proposition 4.5 is no longer needed after finishing the induction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See more explanations at the end of this proof.

We claim that with the condition (1.12), the  $\mathcal{G}$ -action will not change the polynomiality. We can write down the graph sum formula for  $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} := \mathcal{G}.\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}}$  via the  $\mathcal{G}$ -action. For each graph  $\Gamma$ , the contribution  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}$  to (4.18) is given by the following construction

- at each leg l with insertion  $\varphi_{al}\psi_l^{bl}$ , we put  $\sum_k \mathcal{G}_k^*(-\psi_l)^k \varphi_{al}\psi_l^{bl}$ ;
- at each edge  $e = (v_1, v_2)$ , we put

$$V^{\mathcal{G}}(\psi_{v_1},\psi_{v_2}) := \frac{1}{\psi_{v_1}+\psi_{v_2}} (\mathbf{I} - \mathcal{G}(\psi_{v_1})^{-1} \mathcal{G}(-\psi_{v_2})) = Y^{-1} \cdot \sum_{k,l} V^{\mathcal{G}}_{kl} \psi^k_{v_1} \psi^l_{v_2}$$

where  $\deg_X G_k^* = k$ ,  $\deg_X V_{kl} = k + l + 1$  and we have used  $\varphi^i = (5Y/t^N)^{-1}\varphi_{3-i}$  in the last equility.

The total factor involving  $(-5Y/t^{\rm N})$  in Cont<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub> is

$$(-5Y/t^{\mathrm{N}})^{-E}\prod_{v}(-5Y/t^{\mathrm{N}})^{-(g_{v}-1)} = (-5Y/t^{\mathrm{N}})^{-(g-1)},$$

and the X-degree of total contribution of  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}$  is

$$\sum_{v} \left( 3g_v - 3 + n_v - \sum_{l \in L_v} (k_l + b_l) - \sum_{e \in E_v} k_{(e,v)} \right) + \sum_{l \in L} k_l + \sum_{e = (v_1, v_2) \in E} (k_{(e,v_1)} + k_{(e,v_2)} + 1) = 3g - 3 + n - \sum_{l \in L} b_l.$$

This proves

$$f_{g;\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+n-\sum_{i}b_{i}}.$$
(4.19)

Pick t such that  $t^{N} = -1$  and substitute it into (4.19), then q' = q and  $\Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\text{tw},\tau_{Q}(q')} = \Omega_{g,n}^{Q,\tau_{Q}(q)}$  by Remark 2.12. By using the identification (2.5), the definition (4.18) matches (1.11), and (4.19) becomes the statement of Theorem 2.

### 5. BCOV'S FEYNMAN GRAPH SUM VIA GEOMETRIC QUANTIZATION

In this section, we view BCOV's Feynman graph sum as the quantization of a symplectic transformation  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$ , which is a restriction of our A-model propagator matrix  $R^{\mathbf{A}}$  in the smaller phase space.

**Convention 5.1.** In this and the next section, we will omit the supscript  $\mathcal{G}$  in  $\Omega^{\star,\mathcal{G}}$ ,  $R^{\star,\mathcal{G}}$ ,  $f^{\star,\mathcal{G}}$ ,  $E_{**}^{\mathcal{G}}$ , etc..

5.1. Quantization of the symplectic transformation in the small phase space. Let  $\{v_i\}_{i=0,1,2,3} = \{\varphi_3 z^{-2}, -\varphi_2 z^{-1}, \varphi_1, z\}$ , with inner product given by

$$v_i \cdot v_j := \frac{I_0^2}{5Y} \cdot \operatorname{Res}_{z=0}(v_i|_{z \mapsto -z}, v_j) = \begin{pmatrix} & 1 & 1 \\ -1 & & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We consider the 4-dimensional symplectic subspace

$$H_S := \operatorname{span}\{v_i\} \subset \mathcal{H}_Q[z, z^{-1}] \otimes \mathbb{A}.$$

By the explicit formula of the propagator matrix  $R^{\mathbf{A}}$ , we see

$$R^{\mathbf{A}}(z)H_S \subset H_S.$$

Hence we can restrict the symplectic transformation  $R^{\mathbf{A}}(z)$  to subspace  $H_S$ , which is denoted by  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$ . Under the symplectic basis  $\{v_i\}_{i=0,1,2,3}$ , we have

$$R^{\mathbf{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ -E_{\psi} & 1 & & \\ -E_{\varphi\psi} & -E_{\varphi\varphi} & 1 & \\ E_{1\psi^2} & E_{1,\varphi\psi} & E_{\psi} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.1)

For a vector in  $H_S$  under the symplectic basis  $\{v_i\}$ , we write it in the form

$$\vec{v} = (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{x}) = p_y v_0 + p_x v_1 + x v_2 + y v_3 \in H_S$$

We define the quantization of the symplectic transformation  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$  as follows:

**Definition 5.2.** We introduce the following quadratic form over  $H_S$ :

$$\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{p}) = (D^{-1}\mathbf{x}) \cdot \mathbf{p}' - \frac{1}{2}(D^{-1}C\mathbf{p}') \cdot \mathbf{p}' = (\mathbf{p}')^t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ E_{\psi} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{x} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{p}')^t \begin{pmatrix} E_{\varphi\psi} & E_{\varphi\varphi}\\ E_{\psi\psi} & E_{\varphi\psi} \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{p}'.$$

The quantization  $\widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}}$  is defined via the following Feynman integral<sup>30</sup>

$$(\widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}}F)(\hbar, \mathbf{x}) := \ln \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2} e^{\frac{1}{\hbar} (\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}') - \mathbf{x}' \cdot \mathbf{p}') + F(\hbar, \mathbf{x}')} d\mathbf{x}' d\mathbf{p}'.$$
(5.2)

The standard argument of Fourier transform deduces the following (we refer the reader to [CPS13, Sect. 1.4] for detailed discussion of the geometric quantization).

**Lemma 5.3.** We have the following operator form for  $\widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}}$ 

$$(\widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}}F)(\hbar, \mathbf{x}) = \ln\left(e^{\hbar V^{B}(\partial_{\mathbf{x}}, \partial_{\mathbf{x}})}e^{F(\hbar, D^{-1}\mathbf{x})}\right),\tag{5.3}$$

where the differential operator is defined by

$$V^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{x}},\partial_{\mathbf{x}}) := -\frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_{x},\partial_{y} \right) \left( D^{-1}C \right) \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{x} \\ \partial_{y} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_{x},\partial_{y} \right) \begin{pmatrix} E_{\varphi\psi} & E_{\psi\psi} \\ E_{\varphi\varphi} & E_{\varphi\psi} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{x} \\ \partial_{y} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.4)

Now our Theorem 1 has an equivalent statement

**Theorem 5.4** (BCOV's Feynman rule). Recall  $P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y)$  is defined in (1.13). The quantization of  $R^{\mathbf{B}}$  acting on  $P^{\mathbf{B}}$  defines the B-model master potential function, with the form

$$f^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) := \widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}} P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = \sum_{g,m,n} \hbar^{g-1} x^m y^n \cdot f^{\mathbf{B}}_{g,m,n}.$$
(5.5)

Then for each (g, m, n),  $f_{g,m,n}^{\mathbf{B}}$  is a degree 3g - 3 + m polynomials in X.

5.2. Modified Feynman rule. We introduce the following modified B-model correlators

$$\tilde{P}_{g,m,n} = \left\langle (\varphi - E_{\psi}\psi)^{\otimes m}, \psi^{\otimes n} \right\rangle_{g,m+n}^{Q,\mathbf{B}},$$
(5.6)

and their generating function

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) := \sum_{g,m,n} \hbar^{g-1} \frac{x^m y^n}{m!n!} \cdot \tilde{P}_{g,m,n} = P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y - E_{\psi} x).$$
(5.7)

It is not hard to see, if we replace  $P_{g,m,n}$  in the BCOV's Feynman rule by  $\tilde{P}_{g,m,n}$ , then the Feynman rule Theorem 1 will still hold if we replace  $\{E_{\varphi\varphi}, E_{\varphi\psi}, E_{\psi\psi}, E_{\psi}\}$  by <sup>31</sup>

$$\tilde{E}_{\varphi\varphi} = E_{\varphi\varphi}, \quad \tilde{E}_{\varphi\psi} = E_{\psi}E_{\varphi\varphi} + E_{\varphi\psi}, \qquad (5.8)$$

$$\tilde{E}_{\psi\psi} = E_{\psi}^{2}E_{\varphi\varphi} + 2E_{\psi}E_{\varphi\psi} + E_{\psi\psi}, \quad \tilde{E}_{\psi} = 0.$$

More precisely, the Feynman graph sum is given by the following quantization

$$f^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = \widehat{R}^{\mathbf{B}}|_{E_{**} \mapsto \widetilde{E}_{**}} \widetilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y).$$
(5.9)

Indeed, the change of variables (5.7) can be written as a quantization

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = \widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathbf{B}} P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y)$$

of the symplectic transformation  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{B}}$  defined by<sup>32</sup>

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & \\ -E_{\psi} & 1 & & \\ & 0 & 1 & \\ & & -E_{\psi} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.10)

Then the modified B-model propagator matrix  $R^{\mathbf{B}}|_{E_{**}\mapsto \tilde{E}_{**}}$  is given by

$$R^{\mathbf{B}}|_{E_{**}\mapsto\tilde{E}_{**}}=\tilde{R}^{\mathbf{B}}:=R^{\mathbf{B}}\cdot(\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{B}})^{-1},$$

which matches (5.8).

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  This is a finite dimensional Gaussian integral, hence it is well-defined.

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$  To generalize Yamaguchi-Yau equations, similar modified propagators were defined in [AL07] .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> We can see for this case C = 0 and by (5.4) there is no edge contribution.

### 6. FROM NMSP FEYNMAN RULE TO BCOV'S FEYNMAN RULE

We have proved Theorem 2 in §4 and established the NMSP Feynman rule. In this section, we will prove the equivalence of NMSP Feynman rule and BCOV's Feynman rule (Theorem 3). This will finish the proof of the BCOV's Feynman rule.

Notice that the A-model state space  $H_{\mathbf{A}}$  has a higher dimension, with the B-model one  $H_{\mathbf{B}}$  as its subspace. In particular, we have 3 more extra propagators as edge contributions. We first deal with the edge that contributes a bivector  $1 \otimes \varphi_2$  (with propagator  $E_{1\varphi_2} = E_{\psi}$ ). The idea is to consider the similar factorization of the symplectic transformation as in §5.2.

6.1. Decomposition of  $R^{\mathbf{A}}$ -matrix and modified quintic theory. We consider the following matrix factorization of  $R^{\mathbf{A}}$ -matrix:

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{A}}(z) = \tilde{R}^{\mathbf{A}}(z) \cdot \mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{A}}(z), \tag{6.1}$$

where (recall  $E_{1\varphi_2} := E_{\psi}$ )

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{A}}(z) := \mathbf{I} + z \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_{1\varphi_2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & E_{1\varphi_2} \\ 0 & 0 & E_{1\varphi_2} \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{End} H_{\mathbf{A}}.$$
(6.2)

The modified quintic CohFT is defined via

 $\tilde{\Omega}^Q := \mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{A}} . \Omega^Q.$ 

Notice that here  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$  theory depends on the choice of the gauge  $\mathcal{G}$ . (Recall by Convention 5.1, we always omit the supscript  $\mathcal{G}$  in this section.)

**Convention 6.1.** In this section, we will not distinguish the  $\Omega^Q$  and the twisted theory  $\Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$ . We identify them by setting t = 1 in this section.

**Definition 6.2.** For the following coordinate

$$\mathbf{t} = x\,\varphi_1 + y\,\varphi_0\psi + a\,\varphi_1\psi + b\,\varphi_0\psi^2 + c\,\varphi_0 \in H_{\mathbf{A}},$$

we introduce modified normalized A-model potential for the quintic 3-fold

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar; \mathbf{t}) = \tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y, a, b, c) := \sum_{g,n} \frac{\hbar^{g-1}}{n!} \frac{(5Y)^{g-1}}{I_0^{2g-2+n}} \int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}} \tilde{\Omega}_{g,n}^Q(\mathbf{t}^n).$$
(6.3)

In particular, we define

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar; x, y) := \tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar; x \varphi_1 + y \varphi_0 \psi)$$

**Lemma 6.3.** String and dilaton equations hold for the theory  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$ .

*Proof.* By the result of [Lee03], the *R*-matrix action preserve tautological equations. Hence the  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$  theory satisfies string and dilation equation as well.

Proposition 6.4. We have the following relation

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y) = \tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) - \ln(1 - y).$$
(6.4)

*Proof.* By Lemma 6.3, we can use dilaton equations to remove the  $\varphi_0 \psi$  insertions. Namely, both sides of (6.4) satisfy<sup>33</sup>

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial y}f = \left(2\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial\hbar} + x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)f + \frac{\chi_Q}{24}, \qquad \chi_Q = -200.$$

It suffices to prove

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, 0) = \tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, 0).$$
(6.5)

Now we apply the graph sum formula to  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q := \mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{A}} \Omega^Q$ . Notice that when there is an insertion  $\varphi_2 = I_0 I_{11} I_{22} H^2$ , the quintic correlators are zero unless g = 0 (which is from degree 0 contribution). It is not hard to see that in our case (the leg insertions are all  $\varphi_1$ 's), the stable graph will contribute zero unless it is a loop with *l*-vertices: at each vertex there is exactly one  $\varphi_1$  leg insertion and several  $-E_{1\varphi_2}\varphi_0\psi$  insertions, at each edge the bivector is  $E_{1\varphi_2}\varphi_0 \otimes \varphi_2$ . This

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$  one can check that the *B*-model correlators satisfy dilaton equations directly.

only contributes to g = 1 potential. Denoted by  $P_1^E$  the generating function of such "loop type" contribution, we have

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, 0) = P^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, -E_{1\varphi_2}x) + P_1^E(x).$$

By using the dilaton equation for each vertex<sup>34</sup> of the "loop type" graph, we obtain

$$P_{1}^{E}(x) = \sum_{\substack{\Gamma \text{ is a loop with } l \\ \text{vertices and } n+l \text{ legs}}} \frac{x^{l+n}}{l!n!} \frac{\text{Cont}_{\Gamma}}{|\operatorname{Aut}\Gamma|} = \sum_{l>0} \frac{(l-1)!}{l} (E_{1\varphi_{2}}x)^{l} \prod_{i=1}^{l} \sum_{n_{i}\geq 0} (-E_{1\varphi_{2}}x)^{n_{i}}$$

$$= -\ln\left(1 - \frac{E_{1\varphi_{2}}x}{1 + E_{1\varphi_{2}}x}\right) = \ln(1 + E_{1\varphi_{2}}x).$$
(6.6)

In the second equality above we used that there are (l-1)! choices when we put l different vertices in a loop. Together with the following relations

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y - E_{1\varphi_2} x), \quad \text{and} \quad P^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y) = P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) - \ln(1 - y),$$

We obtain (6.5), and hence finish the proof of this proposition.

**Remark 6.5.** We can see the symplectic transformation (5.10) in §5.2 is exactly the restriction of the  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathbf{A}}$ -action to the B-model state space.

Next, we will use string equations proved in Lemma 6.3, to write down any  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$ -theory invariants in terms of  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$ -theory invariants with only insertions  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$ . In this way, we deal with the remaining two "extra" propagators.

6.2. Modified propagators and operator formalism for the quantization action. By the definition of  $\tilde{R}$ -matrix and the  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$  (c.f. (6.1) and (6.2)), we see that the CohFT  $\Omega^{\mathbf{A}}$  is equal to the  $\tilde{R}^Q(z)$ -action on the CohFT  $\tilde{\Omega}^Q$ :

$$\Omega^A = \tilde{R}^Q . \tilde{\Omega}^Q. \tag{6.7}$$

 $\square$ 

Extending §5.2, for the edge contribution of  $\tilde{R}^Q$ -action, we have the modified propagators

$$E_{\varphi\varphi} = E_{\varphi\varphi}, \qquad E_{\varphi\psi} = E_{\psi}E_{\varphi\varphi} + E_{\varphi\psi},$$
  

$$\tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} = E_{1,\varphi\psi}, \qquad \tilde{E}_{1\psi^2} = E_{1\psi^2} + E_{\psi}E_{1,\varphi\psi},$$
  

$$\tilde{E}_{\psi\psi} = E_{\psi}^2 E_{\varphi\varphi} + 2E_{\psi}E_{\varphi\psi} + E_{\psi\psi}, \qquad \tilde{E}_{\psi} = 0.$$
(6.8)

(Note  $\tilde{E}_{**}$ 's are  $\tilde{E}_{**}^{\mathcal{G}}$ 's defined via the same formulas.) Using (6.8), we write down the differential operator form of NMSP A-model potential and BCOV's B-model potential.

**Proposition 6.6.** For  $\star = \mathbf{A}$  or  $\mathbf{B}$  and  $u = x\varphi_1 + y\varphi_0\psi$ , we have

$$\exp\left(f^{\star}(\hbar, x, y)\right) = \exp\left(\hbar \cdot V^{\star}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}, \partial_{\mathbf{t}})\right) \exp\left(P^{\star}(\hbar; \mathcal{E}\mathbf{t})\right)|_{\mathbf{t}=R^{\star}(\psi)^{-1}u(\psi)}$$

where the  $\tilde{V}$ -operator is defined by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}) &:= \frac{1}{2} \tilde{E}_{\varphi\varphi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \tilde{E}_{\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{E}_{\psi\psi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}, \\ \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{A}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}) &:= \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}) + \tilde{V}^E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}), \quad \tilde{V}^E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}) &:= \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{l},\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial a \partial c} + \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{l}\psi^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial b \partial c} \end{split}$$

Here the operator  $\tilde{V}^E$  corresponds to edge contributions with extra propagators.

*Proof.* For the case  $\star = \mathbf{A}$ , the formula follows from (4.18), (6.7) and Givental's quantization formula [Giv01a]. For the case  $\star = B$ , the formula follows from the operator form of the *B*-model quantization formuma (5.3) and (5.5).

Lemma 6.7. We have

$$e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y,a,b,c)} = e^{\frac{c}{1-y}(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b\frac{\partial}{\partial y})}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y)}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Suppose there are  $n_i \psi$ -insertions at the *i*-th vertices  $(i = 1, \dots, l)$ , by forgotting all the  $\psi$ -insertions we get a factor  $n_i!$ .

*Proof.* By string equations, we have  $^{35}$ 

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial c}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y,a,b,c)} = \left(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial c}\right)e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y,a,b,c)}.$$

Then the Lemma follows from the initial condition

$$\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y, a, b, c)|_{c=0} = \tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar, x, y).$$

This proves the Lemma.

6.3. Finish the proof of Theorem 3. We first prove two identities.

**Lemma 6.8.** For any f(x, y), the following identities hold:

$$e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{E}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})} e^{\frac{c}{1-y}(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x}+b\frac{\partial}{\partial y})} f(x,y) \Big|_{a,b,c=0} = \sum_{k\geq 0} E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}})^{k} f(x,y), \tag{6.9}$$

$$e^{-\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}(1-y)^{-1}e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}(1-y) = \sum_{k\geq 0} E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}})^{k}f(x,y),$$
(6.10)

where  $E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}) := \frac{\hbar}{1-y} (\tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \tilde{E}_{1\psi^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}).$ 

Proof. For the first identity, we have that the LHS of  $\left( 6.9\right)$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{n} \frac{\hbar^{n}}{(n!)^{2}} \Big( \tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial a \partial c} + \tilde{E}_{1\psi^{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial b \partial c} \Big)^{n} \Big( \frac{c}{1-y} (a \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b \frac{\partial}{\partial y}) \Big)^{n} f(x,y) \Big|_{a,b,c=0} \\ &= \sum_{n} \frac{\hbar^{n}}{n!} \Big( \tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} + \tilde{E}_{1\psi^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \Big)^{n} \Big( \frac{1}{1-y} (a \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b \frac{\partial}{\partial y}) \Big)^{n} f(x,y) \Big|_{a,b,c=0} \\ &= \sum_{n} \Big( \frac{\hbar^{n}}{1-y} (\tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \tilde{E}_{1\psi^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}) \Big)^{n} f(x,y). \end{split}$$

Here in the second equality we have used the following: when expanding the differential operators as power series, the contribution is non-zero only if  $\tilde{V}^E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}, \partial_{\mathbf{t}})$  and  $\frac{c}{1-y}(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b\frac{\partial}{\partial y})$  appear in the form of the same powers.

For the second identity, by using  $\tilde{E}_{\varphi\psi} + \tilde{E}_{1,\varphi\psi} = 0$ ,  $\tilde{E}_{\psi\psi} + \tilde{E}_{1\psi^2} = 0$ , and

$$e^{-\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}(1-y)e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})} = e^{\mathrm{ad}_{\hbar}\tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}(1-y)$$

$$= (1-y) - [\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}}),(1-y)] = (1-y) + \hbar (\tilde{E}_{\varphi\psi}\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \tilde{E}_{\psi\psi}\frac{\partial}{\partial y}),$$
we obtain  $(1-y)^{-1}e^{-\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}(1-y)e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})} = (1-E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}))f(x,y),$  which is equivalent to (6.10).

By the above two identities, we obtain the following key Lemma.

**Lemma 6.9.** For any f(x, y) we have

$$(1-y)e^{\hbar\tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})+\hbar\tilde{V}^{E}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}e^{\frac{c}{1-y}(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x}+b\frac{\partial}{\partial y})}\frac{f(x,y)}{1-y}\Big|_{a,b,c=0} = e^{\hbar\tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}f(x,y).$$
(6.11)

*Proof.* Since  $\tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}$  commutes with  $\tilde{V}^{E}$ , (6.9) and (6.10) imply

LHS = 
$$(1 - y) e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}, \partial_{\mathbf{t}})} \sum_{k \ge 0} E(\partial_{\mathbf{t}})^{k} (1 - y)^{-1} f(x, y) =$$
RHS.

This proves the lemma.

Now we finish the last step of the proof of Theorem 3. By setting  $f(x,y) = e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar,x,y)}$  in (6.11) and by using Proposition 6.4, we have

$$e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})+\hbar \tilde{V}^{E}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}e^{\frac{c}{1-y}(a\frac{\partial}{\partial x}+b\frac{\partial}{\partial y})}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y)}\Big|_{a,b,c=0} = (1-y)^{-1}e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar,x,y)}.$$

Then by Lemma 6.7, the identity becomes

$$e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})+\hbar \tilde{V}^{E}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{A}}(\hbar,x,y,a,b,c)}\Big|_{a,b,c=0} = (1-y)^{-1} e^{\hbar \tilde{V}^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}},\partial_{\mathbf{t}})}e^{\tilde{P}^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar,x,y)}.$$

Together with Proposition 6.6 we complete the proof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Here since there is no  $\varphi_2$ -insertions, the unstable contribution does not appear in the equation.

### 7. REDUCTION OF GENERATORS, YAMAGUCHI-YAU'S EQUATIONS AND EXAMPLES

The modified propagators (5.8) and (6.8) were introduced to remove the  $(1, \varphi_2)$  edges in the NMSP rule in order to prove Theorem 3. As a by-product, we find that four specific modified propagators give exactly Yamaguchi-Yau's generators, which generate a subring containing the normalized quintic potentials  $P_{q>1}$ .

**Theorem 7.1.** We consider the following modified propagators as generators <sup>36</sup>

$$\mathcal{E}_{1} := \tilde{E}_{\varphi\varphi}^{\vec{0}} = A + 2B, \quad \mathcal{E}_{2} = \tilde{E}_{\varphi\psi}^{\vec{0}} = -B_{2} + B(A + 2B), \\
\mathcal{E}_{3} = \tilde{E}_{\psi\psi}^{\vec{0}} = -B_{3} - (B + X)B_{2} + (A + 2B)B^{2} - \frac{2}{5}XB,$$
(7.1)

and we introduce the subring which is closed under the differential operator D:

 $\tilde{\mathfrak{R}} := \mathbb{Q}[\mathfrak{E}_1, \mathfrak{E}_2, \mathfrak{E}_3, X] \subset \mathfrak{R}.$ 

Then for 2g - 2 + m + n > 0, the  $\tilde{P}_{g,m,n}$  defined in (5.6) lie in  $\mathcal{R}$ . In particular, we have the reduction of generators which was originally conjectured in [YY04]:

$$P_g \in \mathcal{R} \quad for \ g > 1 \tag{7.2}$$

Remark 7.2. Notice that

$$\tilde{E}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\varphi\varphi} = \mathcal{E}_1 + c_1, \quad \tilde{E}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\varphi\psi} = \mathcal{E}_2 + c_2, \quad \tilde{E}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\psi\psi} = \mathcal{E}_3 + c_3$$

Hence the subring  $\hat{\mathcal{R}}$  is also independent of the choice of gauge.

Proof of Theorem 7.1. First, we prove  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$  is closed under  $D^{37}$ 

$$D\mathcal{E}_1 = -X\left(\mathcal{E}_1 - \frac{2}{5}\right) - \mathcal{E}_1^2 + 2\mathcal{E}_2, \quad D\mathcal{E}_2 = -X\mathcal{E}_2 - \mathcal{E}_1\mathcal{E}_2 + \mathcal{E}_3, \quad D\mathcal{E}_3 = \frac{24}{625}X - X\mathcal{E}_3 - \mathcal{E}_2^2.$$

Next by using the dilaton equation,  $\tilde{P}_{g,m,n} = (2g - 3 + m + n)\tilde{P}_{g,m,n-1}$ , we see

$$\tilde{P}_{g,m} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{R}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{P}_{g,m,n} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}.$$
(7.3)

Now we prove  $\tilde{P}_{g,m} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}$  by induction. Initially we have

 $\tilde{P}_{1,0,1}=\chi/24-1 \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{P}_{0,3}=1 \quad \in \quad \tilde{\mathcal{R}}.$ 

Assume  $\tilde{P}_{h,l} \in \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$  for (h,l) < (g,m). By using the modified Feynman rule (see §5.2), for 2g - 2 + m > 0, we have  $f_{g,m}^{B,\vec{0}} \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3g-3+m}$  is equal to the sum over contributions of stable graphs  $\Gamma \in G_{g,m}$ .

Except for the "leading graph" (which has a single genus g vertex with m-legs), the vertices in the other graphs all satisfy  $(g_v, n_v) < (g, m)$ . By induction assumptions and (7.3), these vertices contributions  $\tilde{P}_{g_v,m_v,n_v}$  all lie in the ring  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ . Together with that the edge contributions  $\mathcal{E}_k \in \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$  for k = 1, 2, 3, we deduce  $\tilde{P}_{g,m} \in \mathcal{R}$  and finish the induction.

Theorem 7.3. The Yamaguchi-Yau equations hold:

$$-\partial_A P_g = \frac{1}{2} P_{g-1,2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{g_1+g_2=g} P_{g_1,1} P_{g_2,1},$$
(7.4)

$$\left(-2\partial_A + \partial_B + (A+2B)\partial_{B_2} + \left((B-X)(A+2B) - B_2 - \frac{2}{5}X\right)\partial_{B_3}\right)P_g = 0.$$
(7.5)

Indeed, the second equation (7.5) is equivalent to the reduction of generators (7.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Our generator  $\mathcal{E}_k$  is related with the  $v_i$  defined in [YY04] as follows:  $v_1 = -\mathcal{E}_1$ ,  $v_2 = -\mathcal{E}_2$ ,  $v_3 = \mathcal{E}_3 - X \mathcal{E}_2$ . In a sense, we give a geometric explanation for Yamaguchi-Yau's generators  $v_i$ : they are edge contributions (propagators) of the modified Feynmann rule introduced in §5.2.

 $<sup>^{37}</sup>$  This follows from a direct computation by using the relations (1.2), which is proved in [YY04]. See also (4.4) which gives equivalent relations.

*Proof.* In the end, we prove (7.4). By using Theorem 5.4, the definition of  $V^{\mathbf{B}}$  (5.4) and the definition of quantization action (5.3) we have

$$\exp P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = e^{-\hbar V^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{x}}, \partial_{\mathbf{x}})} \exp f^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y).$$
(7.6)

Note both sides lie in the ring  $\mathcal{R}[[\hbar, \hbar^{-1}, x, y]]$ . By applying the partial derivative  $\partial \in \text{span}\{\partial_A, \partial_B, \partial_{B_2}, \partial_{B_3}\}$  on both sides of (7.6), we see

$$-\partial P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) \exp P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = \hbar \partial V^{B}(\partial_{\mathbf{x}}, \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) e^{-\hbar V^{B}(\partial_{\mathbf{x}}, \partial_{\mathbf{x}})} \exp f^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y),$$
(7.7)

where we have used  $[\partial V^B, V^B] = 0$ ,  $\partial f^{\mathbf{B}} = 0$ , and we recall

$$V^{\mathbf{B}}(\partial_{\mathbf{t}}, \partial_{\mathbf{t}}) := \frac{1}{2} E_{\varphi\varphi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + E_{\varphi\psi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y} + \frac{1}{2} E_{\psi\psi} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}$$

with  $E_{**}$  defined in (1.3). We claim (7.7) will give us PDEs for  $P_{g,m,m}$ : Let  $\partial = \partial_A$  we have  $\partial_A V^B = \frac{1}{2} \partial_x^2$ . Then (7.7) becomes the following PDE

$$-\partial_A P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_x^2 P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) + \frac{1}{2} \Big( \partial_x P^{\mathbf{B}}(\hbar, x, y) \Big)^2.$$
(7.8)

In particular by setting x = y = 0, for g > 2 the coefficient of  $\hbar^{g-1}$  gives exactly (7.4). Let  $\partial$  be the differential operator on the LHS of (7.5), we see it kills  $V^{\mathbf{B}}$ . By using similar argument, we deduce (7.5).

The proof of Theorem 7.1 indeed gives another algorithm which computes the genus g potential  $P_g$  recursively from the lower genus potentials, by using the modified Feynman rule (5.9). The advantage of this algorithm is that only four generators/propagators (instead of five) are involved, expressing  $P_g$  in simpler terms.

For any g > 1, suppose the master potential is given by

$$f_g^{\mathbf{A},\vec{0}} = f_g^{\mathbf{B},\vec{0}} = f_g(X) := \sum_{k=0}^{3g-3} f_{g,k} X^k,$$

then one can solve the genus g "normalized" GW potential  $P_g$  from the low genus by using (either NMSP or BCOV's, modified or original) graph sum formulae.

**Example 7.4.** In terms of the generators (7.1), a maple program gives

$$P_{2} = \frac{350 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{9} + \frac{25 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{6} + \frac{5 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{3}}{24} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{36} + \frac{25 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2}}{24} + \frac{25 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{36} + \frac{X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2}}{6} + \frac{13 \, X^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{720} + \frac{625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{288} + \frac{167 \, X \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{3600} X^{2} + \frac{5759}{3600} X - \frac{25}{144};$$

$$(7.9)$$

$$P_{3} = \frac{8225 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}^{2}}{27} + \frac{275 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{12} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{3} + \frac{29375 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{108} + \frac{185 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{3} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{24} + \frac{575 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{24} + \frac{29375 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{844} - \frac{10450 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}^{2}}{81} - \frac{3595 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{72} + \frac{2355 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{144} + \frac{29375 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{420} + \frac{10450 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}^{2}}{1728} - \frac{3595 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{144} - \frac{8125 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{432} + \frac{15625 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{1728} - \frac{56 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{4} - \frac{25 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{6} - \frac{3125 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{576} - \frac{3125 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}}{1680} - \frac{15632 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{160} - \frac{1567 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{160} - \frac{1567 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{160} - \frac{1567 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{1260} - \frac{1687 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{3}}{1260} - \frac{1687 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{1260} - \frac{1687 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat{\epsilon}_{2}}{1660} - \frac{1603 \, \hat{\epsilon}_{1}^{2} \, \hat$$

Here  $f_{g,0} = (5)^{g-1} N_{g,0}$  is computed by using (A.1) and the ambiguity polynomial  $f_2(X)$  is deduced from the lower degree GW invariants computed in Appendix A.

These formulae (7.9), (7.10) match the physicists' predictions [BCOV94, YY04] for the potential functions of the quintic 3-folds up to the "ambiguity"  $\{f_{g=3,k}\}$ .

### Appendix A. Low degree GW-invariants

Recall  $N_{g,d}$  are the genus g and degree d GW-invariants of quintic threefolds. The degree zero invariants are computed in [FP00] :

$$N_{g,0} = \frac{(-1)^g \cdot \chi \cdot |B_{2g}| \cdot |B_{2g-2}|}{2 \cdot 2g \cdot (2g-2) \cdot (2g-2)!}$$
(A.1)

In this appendix, we will show

**Proposition A.1.** The low degree genus two GW-invariants are given by

$$N_{1,1} = \frac{2875}{12}, \quad N_{2,1} = \frac{575}{48}, \quad N_{2,2} = \frac{5125}{2}, \text{ and } N_{2,3} = \frac{7930375}{6}$$

We let  $Q \subset \mathbb{P}^4$  be a general quintic threefold. For a smooth curve  $E \subset Q$ , we denote by  $N_{E/Q}$  the normal bundle of E in Q, and call E rigid if  $h^0(N_{E/Q}) = 0$ .

We let  $f: C \to Q$  be a stable map from a genus 2 curve C to Q of degree  $d \leq 3$ . We let E = f(C) be the image curve.

**Lemma A.2.** Let the notation be as stated. Then E either is a smooth rigid rational curve or a smooth rigid elliptic curve.

*Proof.* Because deg  $f \leq 3$ , the image curve E has degree at most three. In case E is a union of rational curves, by [Kat86, JK08], E is irreducible, smooth and rigid.

Now suppose E contains an elliptic curve. As elliptic curves in  $\mathbb{P}^4$  have degree at least 3, E is irreducible and has degree three. Thus E must be an irreducible component of  $Q \cap L$ , the intersection of Q with a plane  $L \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ . This way,  $Q \cap L = E \cup E'$ , where E' is rational and of degree 2. By the rigidity proved in [Kat86, JK08], there is no infinitesimal deformation of E' in Q. As E' determines L, there is no infinitesimal deformation of E in Q, thus  $E \subset Q$  is rigid. 

We recall the following results from [FP00, Pan99]. We let  $C_0(h, d)$  be the contribution to  $N_{h,de}$  from a rigid degree e smooth rational curve  $E \subset Q$ . Then for any  $d \ge 1$ ,

$$\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} C_0(h,1) t^{2h} = \left(\frac{\sin(t/2)}{t/2}\right)^{-2} \text{ and } C_0(h,d) = d^{2h-3}C_0(h,1)$$

In particular, for any  $d \ge 1$ ,  $C_0(1,1) = \frac{1}{12d}$  and  $C_0(2,d) = \frac{d}{240}$ . We let  $C_1(h,1)$  be the contribution to  $N_{1+h,e}$  from a rigid degree e smooth elliptic curve  $E \subset Q$ . Then

$$C_1(h,1) = 0.$$

Proof of Proposition A.1. By multiple cover formula of  $N_{0,d}$ , and the known  $N_{0,d\leq3}$ , we see that the general quintic Q has exactly  $n_1 = 2,875, n_2 = 609,250$  and  $n_3 = 317,206,375$  many degree one, two and three rational curves, all rigid, smooth, and mutually disjoint. Applying the proceeding arguments, we get

$$N_{2,1} = n_1 C_0(2,1), \quad N_{2,2} = n_1 C_0(2,2) + n_2 C_0(2,1), \quad N_{2,3} = n_1 C_0(2,3) + n_3 C_0(2,1).$$

Plugging the numbers, we get  $N_{2,1} = \frac{575}{48}$ ,  $N_{2,2} = \frac{5125}{2}$ , and  $N_{2,3} = \frac{7930375}{6}$ . We obtain  $N_{1,1} = \frac{2875}{12}$  for the same reason. 

### APPENDIX B. ORIGINAL FORMS OF FEYNMAN RULES IN THE PAPER OF BCOV

The original form of Feynman graphs in [BCOV94] took a slightly different shape of edges, with certain freedom of gauges. We present BCOV's original form, and the generalization with insertions in the original style in this section, for the readers who are more familiar with the B-model theory. We also give g = 1 and 2 examples in the original forms.

B.1. Original statement of BCOV's Feynman rule. In [BCOV94] the authors considered all g B-model topological partition function  $\mathcal{F}_g^W(q,\bar{q})$  for an arbitrary compact Calabi-Yau threefold W. Its definition uses path integral, and it is a non-holomorphic extension of the GW potential  $F_q^M(q)$  of the mirror Calabi-Yau threefold M of W:

$$\lim_{\bar{q}\to 0} \mathcal{F}_g^W(q,\bar{q}) = F_g^M(q). \tag{B.1}$$

One of the primary result in [BCOV94] is that  $\mathcal{F}_g^W$  satisfies "holomorphic anomaly equation" (HAE). When W is a one-dimensional mirror family, the equation is

$$\partial_{\bar{q}} \mathcal{F}_{g}^{W}(q,\bar{q}) = \frac{1}{2} C_{\bar{q}}^{qq} \Big( D_{q}^{2} \mathcal{F}_{g-1}^{W}(q,\bar{q}) + \sum_{g_{1}+g_{2}=g} D_{q} \mathcal{F}_{g_{1}}^{W}(q,\bar{q}) D_{q} \mathcal{F}_{g_{2}}^{W}(q,\bar{q}) \Big),$$

where  $D_q$  is certain covariant derivative and  $C_{\bar{q}}^{qq}$  is certain three point function (Yukawa coupling) that can be calcuated by B side special geometry. Using integrations by parts, [BCOV94, Sect. 6] solves HAE and express its solutions  $\mathcal{F}_g^W$  via Feynman rules. We state here the BCOV's Feynman rules for the limit  $F_q^M$  (B.1), with M being the quintic 3-fold.

**BCOV's Feynman graph:** For any g > 1, we consider the set  $G_g^{\text{BCOV}}$  of genus g stable graphs with three types of edges: solid lines; half dotted half solid lines, and dotted lines. For each graph  $\Gamma$ , we do the following:

**Edge**: at each edge drawn as solid lines, half dotted lines and dotted lines, we place one of the opagators  $(T^{\varphi\varphi}, T^{\varphi}, T)$  defined in (1.5) respectively;

**Vertex**: at each vertex of genus g, with m solid half edges and n dotted half edges, we place  $P_{q,m,n}$  (defined in (0.4)).

We define  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}$  to be the product of the edge and the vertex placements; and define

$$f_g^{\mathrm{BCOV}} := \sum_{\Gamma \in G_g^{\mathrm{BCOV}}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}.$$

**Conjecture B.1.** For g > 1,  $f_g^{\text{BCOV}}$  is a degree 3g - 3 polynomial in X.

This original BCOV's rule can be generalized to allow legs:

**BCOV's Feynman graph with legs:** We consider the set  $G_{g,n}^{\text{BCOV}}$  of genus g, n-leg stable graphs with three types of edges (as above) and two types of legs: solid half lines and dotted half lines. Besides what we do for edges and vertices as above, furthermore

Leg: at each leg, we place one of the following 2-types of propogators

$$E_{\varphi} := 1, \quad \text{and} \quad -E_{\psi}^{c_{1a}} := -B - c_{1a}$$
 (B.2)

according to the types of the edge:  $\varphi$  goes with solid half line and  $\psi$  goes with half dotted line. Here  $c_{1a}$  can be any polynomial of X with degree no more than 1.

We define  $Cont_{\Gamma}$  to be the product of the legs, edges and vertices placements, and define

$$f_{g,n}^{\mathrm{BCOV}} := \sum_{\Gamma \in G_{g,n}^{\mathrm{BCOV}}} \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)|} \operatorname{Cont}_{\Gamma}.$$

**Conjecture B.2.** For 2g - 2 + n > 0,  $f_{g,n}^{BCOV}$  is a degree 3g - 3 + n polynomial in X.

By setting m = 0 and picking the gauge  $(c_{1b}, c_2, c_3) = (\frac{3}{5}, -\frac{2}{25}, -\frac{4}{125})$  in Theorem 1, we recover the statement in Conjecture B.2; furthermore by setting n = 0 we recover the statement in Conjecture B.1.

B.2. Example of BCOV's original Feynman rule. We illustrate how BCOV's Feynman rules compute genus g GW potential from lowers genus GW potentials.

**Example B.3** (g = 1, n = 1). In this case, the BCOV's Feynman graphs are

$$E_{\varphi} \xrightarrow{\bullet}_{g=1} ; \qquad -E_{\psi} \xrightarrow{\cdots}_{g=1} ; \qquad E_{\varphi} \xrightarrow{\bullet}_{g=0} .$$

BCOV's rule gives us (note by definition (0.4),  $P_{1,0,1} = \frac{\chi}{24} - 1.$ )

$$E_{\varphi} \cdot P_{1,1} + (-E_{\psi}) \cdot P_{1,0,1} + \frac{1}{2} E_{\varphi} \cdot T^{\varphi\varphi} \cdot P_{0,3} = f_{1,1}^{\text{BCOV}}(X) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{1}.$$
(B.3)

By using the initial data  $N_{1,0}, N_{1,1}$  (see Appendix A), and setting  $c_{1a} = 0$  we obtain

$$f_{1,1}^{\text{BCOV}}(X) = -\frac{1}{12}X - \frac{107}{60} = P_{1,1} - \frac{28}{3} \cdot (-B) + \frac{1}{2}\left(A + 2B + \frac{3}{5}\right).$$

Hence we solve  $P_{1,1}$  that matches Zinger's formula [Zi09] (also c.f. [KL18], [CGLZ18])

$$P_{1,1} = -\frac{1}{2}A - \frac{31}{3}B - \frac{1}{12}X - \frac{25}{12}.$$
(B.4)

**Example B.4** (g = 2, n = 0). In this case, the BCOV's Feynman rule becomes

$$P_{2} + \frac{1}{2}T^{\varphi\varphi}P_{1,1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}T^{\varphi\varphi}P_{1,2} + \frac{1}{2}(T^{\varphi\varphi})^{2}P_{1,1} + \frac{1}{8}(T^{\varphi\varphi})^{2}P_{0,4} + \frac{1}{8}(T^{\varphi\varphi})^{3} + \frac{1}{12}(T^{\varphi\varphi})^{3} + \frac{\chi}{24}T^{\varphi}P_{1,1} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\chi}{24}T^{\varphi}T^{\varphi\varphi} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\chi}{24}(\frac{\chi}{24} - 1)T = f_{2}^{\mathrm{BCOV}}(X) \in \mathbb{Q}[X]_{3},$$
(B.5)

accroding to the BCOV's Feynman graphs listed below:

The list of stable g = 2 decorated graphs, thirteen of them.

By using the genus 1 formula (B.4), the divisor equation  $P_{1,2} = (D - A)P_{1,1}$ , together with the initial data  $N_{2,0}, N_{2,1}, N_{2,2}, N_{2,3}^{-38}$ , one obtains

$$f_2^{\text{BCOV}}(X) = -\frac{1}{240} X^3 + \frac{113}{7200} X^2 + \frac{487}{300} X - \frac{11771}{7200}$$

Hence one solves from (B.5)

$$-P_{2} = -\frac{350 B_{3}}{9} - \left(\frac{25 A}{6} + \frac{425 B}{9} + \frac{625}{36}\right)B_{2} + \frac{5 A^{3}}{24} + \frac{65 A^{2} B}{12} + \frac{1045 AB^{2}}{18} + \frac{865 B^{3}}{9} + \frac{25}{144} + \left(\frac{A^{2}}{6} + \frac{49 AB}{36} + \frac{167 A}{720} + \frac{37 B^{2}}{18} - \frac{1811 B}{120} - \frac{475 B_{2}}{12} - \frac{5759}{3600}\right)X + \frac{25 A^{2}}{24} + \frac{775 AB}{36} + \frac{350 B^{2}}{9} + \frac{625}{288} (A + 2B) + \left(\frac{13 A}{288} + \frac{13 B}{144} + \frac{41}{3600}\right)X^{2} + \frac{X^{3}}{240}.$$

This is exactly the formula in Theorem 0.4. Here we just rewrite the propagators in terms of Yamaguchi-Yau's generators via (1.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> These are originally conjectured by physicists by using some "boundary" behavior of  $F_g$ . A mathematical computation of them is put in Appendix A.

### Appendix C. Remarks on the R-matrix actions on CohFTs

C.1. Unit axiom. We prove that the *R*-matrix action preserves the unit axiom if it is invertible, as stated in Theorem 2.7.

**Lemma C.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a CohFT with the triple  $(V, \eta, \mathbf{1})$ . We consider another triple  $(V', \eta', \mathbf{1}')$ with dim<sub>F</sub>  $V' = \dim_F V$ , and a symplectic transformation  $R(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V, V') \otimes \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!]$  acting on  $\Omega$ . We have

$$R.\Omega_{0,3}(\mathbf{1}',\alpha,\beta) = \eta'(\alpha,\beta).$$

*Proof.* By definition of the *R*-matrix action, we have

$$R.\Omega_{0,3}(\mathbf{1}',\alpha,\beta) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{1}{k!} (\mathrm{pr}_k)_* \Omega_{0,3+k} \Big( R_0^{-1} \mathbf{1}', R_0^{-1} \alpha, R_0^{-1} \beta, (T_0 \psi)^k \Big).$$

where  $T(z) := z \mathbf{1} - R^{-1}(z)\mathbf{1}' = T_0 z + O(z^2)$ , and hence the second equality holds simply for dimensional reason.

Let  $\omega$  be the topological part of  $\Omega$  (i.e. the part of degree zero classes, c.f. [PPZ15]). By the axiom of CohFT, it is uniquely determined by the quantum product. In particular,

$$\omega_{0,n+2}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}},\beta_1,\beta_2) = \sum_{\alpha} \omega_{0,n+1}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}},e_{\alpha}) \cdot \omega_{0,3}(e^{\alpha},\beta_1,\beta_2) = \omega_{0,n+1}(\tau_{\mathbf{n}},\beta_1*\beta_2),$$

where we have used the spliting axiom in the first equality and the definition of the quantum product in the second equality. Hence

$$R.\Omega_{0,3}(\mathbf{1}',\alpha,\beta) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{1}{k!} \omega_{0,3+k} \Big( R_0^{-1} \mathbf{1}', R_0^{-1} \alpha, R_0^{-1} \beta, (T_0)^k \Big) (\mathrm{pr}_k)_* (\psi_4 \cdots \psi_{k+3})$$
$$= \omega_{0,3} \Big( \sum_k R_0^{-1} \mathbf{1}' * (T_0)^{*k}, R_0^{-1} \alpha, R_0^{-1} \beta \Big)$$
$$= \omega_{0,3} \Big( \mathbf{1}, R_0^{-1} \alpha, R_0^{-1} \beta \Big) = \Big( R_0^{-1} \alpha, R_0^{-1} \beta \Big),$$

where we have used  $\int_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{0,3+k}} \psi_1 \cdots \psi_k = k!$  and  $\sum_{k \ge 0} R_0^{-1} \mathbf{1}' * (T_0)^{*k} = (\mathbf{1} - T_0) * \sum_{k \ge 0} (T_0)^{*k} = \mathbf{1}$ in the third equality; and the fundamental class axiom in the last equality. Furthermore, since  $R_0$  is invertible,  $R_0^{-1}$  is symplectic as well, hence we finish the proof.

C.2. **Dilaton flow.** Let  $\Omega$  be an arbitrary CohFT with triple  $(V, \eta, \mathbf{1})$  and the coefficient adic ring  $\mathbb{A} = F[\![q]\!]$ . Let  $R(z) \in \operatorname{End}(V, V') \otimes \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!]$  be symplectic.

We consider an arbitrary nonzero "scaling constant"  $c \in 1 + q\mathbb{A}$ , and we let

$$\tilde{R}^{-1}(z) = c^{-1}R^{-1}(z)$$
 and  $\tilde{T}(z) = z(\mathbf{1} - \tilde{R}^{-1}(z)\mathbf{1}').$  (C.1)

For any 2g - 2 + n > 0, using  $pr_{1*}\psi_{n+1} = 2g - 2 + n$ , we have

$$T_R\Omega_{g,n}(-) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{1}{k!} \operatorname{pr}_{k*}\Omega_{g,n+k}(-, T(\psi)^k) = \sum_{\ell,m\geq 0} \frac{1}{\ell!m!} \operatorname{pr}_{\ell+m*}\Omega_{g,n+\ell+m}(-, [(1-c)\psi\mathbf{1}]^\ell, [c\tilde{T}(\psi)]^m) = \sum_{m\geq 0} \frac{1}{m!} c^{-(2g-2+n)} \operatorname{pr}_{m*}\Omega_{g,n+m}\Big((-), \tilde{T}(\psi)^m\Big).$$
(C.2)

We see that, usually if (2.2) converges, then (C.2) converges as well. For example, if (2.3) holds, then  $\tilde{T}(z)$  also lies in  $z^2 \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!] \otimes V + q z \mathbb{A}[\![z]\!] \otimes V$ . Then  $c - 1 \in q \mathbb{A}$  makes the infinite sum converges in the q-adic topology.

In the end, we give an example that how the Dilaton flow relates the *R*-matrix actions with general  $R_0$  to the one defined in [PPZ15] for the semi-simple cases.

**Example C.2.** For a semi-simple CohFT  $\Omega_{g,n}$ , we can state Givental-Teleman's reconstruction theorem in a slightly different form: there exists an *R*-matrix such that

$$\Omega = R.(\Omega_{\rm pt}^{\oplus n}), \qquad R = R_0 + R_1 z + \dots \in \operatorname{End} F^n \otimes \mathbb{A}[[z]$$

where the state space of  $\Omega$  is still  $F^n$  as a linear space; the unit of  $\Omega$  is also the same one:

$$\mathbf{1} := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} e_{\alpha}, \qquad e_{\alpha} \text{ is the unit of each copy of } I_{\text{pt}};$$

and the pairing is different in general, which we will denote by  $(\cdot, \cdot)^{tw}$ .

Indeed, since we require R to be symplectic, the pairing of  $\Omega$  is indeed determined by  $R_0$  (note the pairing in  $\Omega_{\text{pt}}^{\oplus n}$  is the standard pairing of  $F^n$ ). Let  $c_{\alpha} := (e_{\alpha}, R_0^{-1}\mathbf{1})$ , and

$$\Psi := \operatorname{diag}(\{c_{\alpha}^{-1}\}_{\alpha=1}^{n}), \qquad \bar{e}_{\alpha} := \Psi e_{\alpha} = c_{\alpha}^{-1} e_{\alpha}.$$

Then the inner product of  $\Omega$  is given by

$$(e_{\alpha}, e_{\beta})^{\mathrm{tw}} := \delta_{\alpha\beta} c_{\alpha}^2 \qquad \text{or} \qquad (\bar{e}_{\alpha}, \bar{e}_{\beta})^{\mathrm{tw}} := \delta_{\alpha\beta}$$

We define the normalized R-matrix via

$$\tilde{R}(z) = R(z)\Psi^{-1} = \mathbf{I} + O(z)$$

which is indeed the *R*-matrix defined in [PPZ15]. By using Dilaton flow, one checks

$$\Omega = R.(\Psi.(I_{\rm pt}^{\oplus n})) = R.\omega,$$

where the  $\Psi$ -matrix transforms the trivial CohFT  $I_{\rm pt}^{\oplus n}$  with standard pairing, to the topological part  $\omega$  of  $\Omega$  with the twisted pairing  $(,)^{\rm tw}$ 

$$\omega_{g,n}(e_{\alpha_1},\cdots,e_{\alpha_n})=\delta_{\alpha_1,\cdots,\alpha_n}c_\alpha^{-(2g-2)}.$$

Here  $\delta_{\alpha_1,\dots,\alpha_n} = 1$  if  $\alpha_1 = \dots = \alpha_n$ , otherwise it is zero.

# Appendix D. Explicit formulae for R-matrices

First we give the explicit formulae for the leading terms of  $R^{[0]}$ . We hope they can make the arguments in the §3 and §4 more clear, though we do not really use them in our proof.

**Lemma D.1.** We have the following explicit formula (with understanding that  $R^{[0]}(z)$  is identity operator on odd classes <sup>39</sup>)



under the basis  $\{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^{N+3}$  and  $\{H^i\}_{i=0}^3$ , where  $\cdots$  are all zeros.

*Proof.* By using the QDE (3.10) of  $R^{[0]}(z)$  and the initial data  $R^{[0]}(z)^*\mathbf{1}$  in (3.9),  $R^{[0]}(z)$  can be computed recursively. A direct computation shows this lemma.

Next, we give the explicit formulae for the leading terms of  $R^X(z)$ , as defined in (4.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> in this paper all operators from  $\mathcal{H}_Q$  to  $\mathcal{H}$  or conversely  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_Q$  are assumed to be identity on odd classes. Thus we only describe their action on even classes.

**Lemma D.2.** We have the following explicit form of  $R^X(z)^* : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_Q[\![z]\!] \otimes A$  in terms of basis  $\{\phi_j\}$  for  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\{\varphi_i\}_{i=0}^3$  respectively:

where  $\cdots$  are all zeros.

*Proof.* The  $R^X$ -matrix can be computed by using the algorithm introduced in the proof of Lemma 4.3, which starts from  $R^X(z)^*\phi_0 = 1 + O(z^{N-3})$  and computes  $R^X(z)^*\phi_j(j > 0)$  recursively by using the equation (4.3).

Corollary D.3. Recall 
$$V_X(z, w) := \frac{\sum_{i=0}^3 \varphi_i \otimes \varphi^i - \sum_{j=0}^{N+3} R^X(-z)^* \phi_j \otimes R^X(-w)^* \phi^j}{z+w}$$
, we have  

$$Y \cdot V_X(z, w) =$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\frac{(24w^2 - 24zw + 24z^2)X}{625} & -\frac{(24w - 24z)X}{625} & 0 \\ \frac{(24w - 24z)X}{625} & 0 & \frac{262X}{625} & 0 \\ -\frac{24X}{625} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \sum_i O(z^i)O(w^{N-i}).$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.3, the coefficients of  $z^i w^j$  for i + j < N is non-zero only when  $i + j \leq 3$ . Then the matrix can be computed directly by (D.2).

### LIST OF SYMBOLS

Ν	a prime that will be taken large
$t_{lpha}$	$t_{\alpha} = -\zeta_{\rm N}^{\alpha} t$ for $\alpha = 1, \cdots, N$ , where $\zeta_{\rm N}$ is the primitive N-th root of unity
p	the equivariant hyperplane class $c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{4+N}}(1))$
Н	the hyperplane class of the quintic 3-fold $Q$
$\mathbb{F},\ \mathbb{A}$	the base field $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(t)$ and coefficient ring $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{Q}(t)\llbracket q \rrbracket$ for all CohFTs
$ au_{\mathbf{n}}$	we abbreviate $\tau_{\mathbf{n}} := (\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_n)$
Y, X	rational functions of q: $Y = (1 - 5^5 q)^{-1}, X := 1 - Y$
$I_{ii}$	Let $D := q \frac{d}{dq}$ , then $I_{11} = I_{33} = 1 + DJ_1$ , $I_{22} = Y/I_0^2 I_{11}^2$
$A_k, B_k$	Yamaguchi-Yau's generators (1.1), we abbreviate $A := A_1, B := B_1$
${\mathcal G}$	the gauge $\mathcal{G} := (c_{1a}, c_{1b}, c_2, c_3)$ satisfying (1.4), as a group action it is (4.16)
$E^{\mathcal{G}}_{**}$	BCOV's propogators $(1.3)$ and extra propagators $(1.8)$
$\tilde{E}_{**}$	modified propogators defined in $(5.8)$ and $(6.8)$ (see Convention 5.1 )
$\phi_i$	the basis $\{\phi_i := p^i\}_{i=0}^{N+3}$ of $\mathcal{H}$ with dual basis $\{\phi^i\}_{i=0}^{N+3}$ .
$arphi_i$	the normalized basis $\{\varphi_i := I_0 \cdots I_{ii} H^i\}$ of $\mathcal{H}_Q$ with dual basis $\{\varphi^i\}_{i=0}^3$
$\psi_k$	in this paper $\psi_k$ always denote ancestors, i.e. pullback of psi-classes in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$

HUAI-LIANG	CHANG,	SHUAI	GUO,	AND	JUN	LI
------------	--------	-------	------	-----	-----	----

the set of polynomials in X of degree $\leq d$ , by definition $\mathbb{Q}[X]_d = \mathbb{Q}[Y]_d$
the state spaces: $H_{\mathbf{A}} := \operatorname{span}\{\varphi_0, \cdots, \varphi_3\}[\psi]$ and $H_{\mathbf{B}} := \operatorname{span}\{\psi, \varphi\} \subset H_{\mathbf{A}}$
the symplectic transformation defined in $(1.7)$ and $(5.1)$
the type $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}$ "normalized" generating function for the quintic theory (1.13)
the generating function for the type $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}$ "master" theory (1.9),(1.6)
the union of quintic and N points: $\aleph = Q \cup \operatorname{Npt}$ , where $\operatorname{Npt} := \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{\mathbb{N}} \{ \operatorname{pt}_{\alpha} \}$
the state space $H^*(\aleph, \mathbb{Q})$ with unit <b>1</b> and pairing $(, )^M$ (c.f. Def. 2.14)
the CohFT defined by the Gromov-Witten class of a projective variety $X$
the topological part of the CohFT $\Omega^X$ (restriction to $H^0(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n})$ )
the CohFT $\Omega^{\aleph} := \Omega^{Q, tw} \oplus \omega^{Npt, tw}$ , where $\Omega^{\bullet, tw}$ are CohFTs of certain twisted
theories which naturally appear in the localization (c.f. Sect. 2.5)
the CohFT $\Omega^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} := R^{\mathbf{A},\mathcal{G}} \Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}$ of type <b>A</b> "master" theory
the <i>R</i> -matrix action (3.2), which transform $\Omega^{\aleph}$ to the [0, 1]-CohFT $\Omega^{[0,1]}$
the restriction of the <i>R</i> -matrix to $\mathcal{H}_Q$ , $\mathcal{H}_{Npt}$ respectively
the CohFT defined via $R^{[0]}, R^{[1]}$ -action : $\Omega^{[0]} := R^{[0]} \cdot \Omega^{Q,\text{tw}}, \ \Omega^{[1]} := R^{[1]} \cdot \omega^{\text{Npt,tw}}$
the generating function for the $[0], [1]$ -theory (Def. 3.11)
the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n+k} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$ defined by forgetting last k markings
the natural projection $\mathcal{W}_{g,n,\mathbf{d}} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$
the natural projection $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}(Q,d) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$

#### References

- [AL07] M. Alim and J.D. Lange, *Polynomial structure of the (open) topological string partition function*, J. High Energy Phys. **10** (2007), 045, arXiv:0708.2886.
- [BCOV93] M. Bershadsky, S. Cecotti, H. Ooguri, and C. Vafa, Holomorphic anomalies in topological field theories, Nuclear Phys. B 405 (1993), no. 2-3, 279-304.
- [BCOV94] M. Bershadsky, S. Cecotti, H. Ooguri, and C. Vafa, Kodaira-Spencer Theory of Gravity and Exact Results for Quantum String Amplitudes, Comm. Math. Phys. 165, No. 2 (1994), 311-427.
- [BF97] K. Behrend, B. Fantechi, The intrinsic normal cone. Invent. Math. 128 (1997), no. 1, 45-88.
- [CdOGP91] P. Candelas, X. C. de la Ossa, P. S. Green, and L. Parkes, A pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exact soluble superconformal theory. Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991), 21-74.
- [NMSP1] H.-L. Chang, S. Guo, J. Li, and W.-P. Li, *The Moduli space of N-Mixed-Spin-P fields*, arXiv: 1809.08806.
- [NMSP2] H.-L. Chang, S. Guo, J. Li, Polynomial structure of Gromov-Witten potential of quintic 3-folds, arXiv:1809.11058.
- [CGLZ18] H.-L. Chang, S. Guo, W.-P. Li and J. Zhou, Genus one GW invariants of quintic threefolds via MSP localization, IMRN (2018).
- [CGLZ] H.-L. Chang, S. Guo, J. Li and J. Zhou, Yamaguchi-Yau equations via BCOV's Feymann rule, in preparation.
- [CPS13] E. Clader, N. Priddis, M. Shoemaker, Geometric Quantization with Applications to Gromov-Witten Theory, arXiv:1309.1150.
- [FL17] H. Fan, Y-P Lee, Towards a quantum Lefschetz hyperplane theorem in all genera, to appear in Geometry and Topology, arXiv:1712.03573.
- [FP00] C. Faber, R. Pandharipande, Hodge integrals and Gromov-Witten theory, Invent. Math. 139 (2000), 173-199.
- [Gat03] A. Gathmann, Gromov-Witten invariants of hypersurfaces, Habilitation Thesis, Univ. of Kaiserslautern, 2003
- [Giv96] A. Givental, Equivariant Gromov-Witten invariants, IMRN (1996), no. 13, 613-663.
- [Giv99] A. Givental, *The mirror formula for quintic threefolds*, Northern California Symplectic Geometry Seminar, 49-62, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 196, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [Giv01a] A. Givental, Gromov-Witten invariants and quantization of quadratic Hamiltonians, Mosc. Math. J. 1(2001), no 4, 551-568.
- [Giv01b] A. Givental, Semisimple Frobenius structures at higher genus, IMRN (2001), no. 23, 1265-1286.

- [GJR17] S. Guo, F. Janda, and Y. Ruan. A mirror theorem for genus two Gromov Witten invariants of quintic threefolds, arXiv:1709.07392.
- [GJR18] S. Guo, F. Janda, and Y. Ruan. Structure of Higher Genus Gromov-Witten Invariants of Quintic 3folds, arXiv:1812.11908.
- [HKQ09] M.X. Huang, A. Klemm, S. Quackenbush, Topological String Theory on Compact Calabi-Yau: Modularity and Boundary Conditions, Lect.Notes Phys. 757 (2009), 45-102.
- [IP04] E. Ionel and T. Parker, The symplectic sum formula for Gromov-Witten invariants, Ann. of Math. 159 (2004), no. 3, 935-1025.
- [JK08] T. Johnsen and S. Kleiman, Rational curves of degree at most 9 on a general quintic threefold, J. Comm. in Algebra. 24 (1996), 2721-2753.
- [Kat86] S. Katz, On the finiteness of rational curves on quintic threefolds, Comp. Math. 60 (1986), 151-162.
- [Kon93] M. Kontsevich, Enumeration of rational curves via torus actions, Commun. Math. Phys. 151 (1993), 245-262.
- [KL18] B. Kim and H. Lho, Mirror theorem for elliptic quasimap invariants, Geom. Topol. 22 (2018), no. 3, 1459-1481.
- [KM94] M. Kontsevich and Yu. Manin, Gromov-Witten classes, quantum cohomology, and enumerative geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 164 (1994), 525-562.
- [Lee03] Y.-P. Lee, Witten's conjecture, Virasoro conjecture, and invariance of tautological equations, arXiv:0311100.
- [LhP18] H. Lho, R. Pandharipande, Holomorphic anomaly equations for the formal quintic, arXiv:1803.01409.
- [Li01] J. Li, Stable morphisms to singular schemes and relative stable morphisms, J. Differential Geom. 57 (2001), no. 3, 509-578.
- [Li02] J. Li, A degeneration formula of GW-invariants, J. Differential Geom. 60 (2002), no. 2, 199-293.
- [LLY97] B. Lian, K. Liu and S.T. Yau, *Mirror Principle I*, Asian J. Math. 1(1997), no. 4, 729-763.
- [LT98] J. Li and G. Tian, Virtual moduli cycles and Gromov-Witten invariants of algebraic varieties, Amer. Math. Soc. 11 (1998), no. 1, 119-174.
- [LR01] A-M. Li and Y. Ruan, Symplectic surgery and Gromov-Witten invariants of Calabi-Yau 3-folds, Invent. Math. 145 (2001), no. 1, 151-218.
- [LZ09] J. Li and A. Zinger, On the genus-one Gromov-Witten invariants of complete intersections, J. Diff. Geom. 82 (2009), no. 3, 641-690.
- [MP06] D. Maulik and R. Pandharipande, A topological view of Gromov-Witten theory, Topology 45 (2006), no. 5, 887-918.
- [Mu83] D. Mumford, Towards an enumerative geometry of the moduli space of curves in Arithmetic and geometry, vol. II, Progress in Mathematics, **36** (Birkhauser, Boston, MA, 1983), 271-328.
- [Pan99] R. Pandharipande, Hodge Integrals and Degenerate Contributions, Commun. Math. Phys. 208 (1999), 489-506.
- [PPZ15] R. Pandharipande, A. Pixton, D. Zvonkine, *Relations on*  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$  via 3-spin structures, J. Amer. Math. Soc. **28**(2015), 279-309.
- [RT95] Y-B. Ruan and G. Tian, A mathematical theory of quantum cohomology, J. Differential Geom. 42 (1995), no. 2, 259-367.
- [Sh09] S. Shadrin, *BCOV theory via Givental group action on cohomological fields theories*, (English, with English and Russian summaries), Mosc. Math. J. **9** (2009), no. 2, 411-429, back matter.
- [Te12] C. Teleman, The structure of 2D semi-simple field theories, Invent. Math. 188 (2012), no. 3, 525-588.
   [Wit92] E. Witten, Mirror Manifolds and Topological Field Theory, in Essays on Mirror Manifolds (S.-T. Yau,
- ed.). (1992), International Press, Hong Kong, 121-160.
- [Wu18] L.T. Wu, A remark on Gromov-Witten invariants of quintic threefold, Adv. Math. 326 (2018), 241-313.
- [YY04] S. Yamaguchi and S.-T. Yau, Topological string partition functions as polynomials, J. High Energy Phys. 07(2004)047.
- [ZZ08] D. Zagier and A. Zinger. Some properties of hypergeometric series associated with mirror symmetry, In Modular forms and string duality, 54 of Fields Inst. Commun., 163-177. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.
- [Zi09] A. Zinger, The reduced genus Gromov-Witten invariants of Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 22(2009), 691-737.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, HONG KONG UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, HONG KONG *Email address*: mahlchang@ust.hk

School of Mathematical Sciences and Beijing International Center for Mathematical Research, Peking University

Email address: guoshuai@math.pku.edu.cn

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, STANFORD UNIVERSITY, USA; SHANGHAI CENTER FOR MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, FUDAN UNIVERSITY, CHINA *Email address:* jli@stanford.edu